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(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) Annual Growth Rate
November 28, November 29, Current 10

Years Ended 1998 1997 Year Years
Net sales $1,347,241 $1,306,789 3.1% 7.0%
Earnings before accounting changes $15,990* $40,308 (60.3)% (2.7)%

Per common share – Basic $1.16* $2.91 (60.1)% (2.4)%
Per common share – Diluted $1.15* $2.88 (60.1)% (2.4)%
Percent of net sales 1.2% 3.1%

Net earnings $15,990* $36,940 (56.7)% (2.7)%
Per common share – Basic $1.16* $2.67 (56.6)% (2.4)%
Per common share – Diluted $1.15* $2.64 (56.6)% (2.4)%
Percent of net sales 1.2% 2.8%

Dividends paid per share $0.785 $0.720 9% 8.4%
Net cash provided by operating activities $51,972 $68,581 (24.2)% 4.5%
Research and development expense $22,255 $24,830 (10.4)% 4.4%
Capital expenditures $62,327 $69,224 (10.0)% 4.5%
Stockholders’ equity $341,404 $339,114 0.7% 6.7%
Per share $24.39 $24.48 (0.4)% 6.9%
Average common shares outstanding

(in thousands) –Basic 13,721 13,843 (0.9)% (0.3)%
–Diluted 13,844 13,988 (1.0)% (0.4)%

Number of employees 6,000 6,000 – 1.4%

Financial
Highlights

• Expanded presence in Europe and Asia/Pacific by
completing acquisitions totaling approximately
$53 million in incremental sales.

• Announced major restructuring plan to reduce
operating costs in excess of $30 million on an
annualized basis by the Year 2000.

• Reorganized the Global Strategic Business Unit
(SBU) organization, including the addition of a

global Footwear SBU, to better focus efforts, apply
resources more efficiently, improve competitive
position and capitalize on market opportunities.

• Incorporated Value Creation to focus on improving
shareholder value by aligning management
compensation with the achievement of strategic
goals and objectives.

Operating
Highlights

Earnings from 
continuing operations
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Specialty Group

H.B. Fuller has five specialized business units that serve unique markets. 

This section features brief profiles of each of these businesses.

Automotive
Business: Body-shop sealants used
to fill gaps between body sections.
Paint-shop sealants used in critical
painting operations. Trim adhesives
used for structural and nonstructural
applications.

Developments: Direct glazing technology – polyurethane

adhesive systems used for affixing and sealing windshields in

vehicles.

Engineered Systems
Business: Adhesives and sealants
bond and seal appliances, filters, elec-
tronics, sporting goods, HVAC, marine,
medical devices, abrasives, paint rollers
and brushes.

Developments: Hot melt filter pleating adhesives for UL

Class I and II high efficiency air filters found in industrial and

home heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems.

Rapidex® hot melt moisture-cure adhesives for the lamination

of fabric for the activewear market.

Foster Products
Corporation
Business: The global leader in the
manufacture and sale of mastics,
coatings, sealants, and adhesives for
the thermal insulation, indoor air quality,
and HVAC markets.

Developments: Hot melt resin technology, which makes

it possible to produce solvent-free adhesives for customers

in the heating, ventilating, and air conditioning markets.

New technology to replace lead curing systems, resulting in 100

percent lead-free products used in the industrial insulation

market.

Converting
Business: Water-based and hot melt
adhesives, used in corrugated, tissue
and towel, envelope, tubewinding,
laminating, bag, folding carton, tape and
label industries.

Developments: High-performance polymers that improve
machine stability and application performance for adhesives
used in manufacturing folding cartons and film laminating.

New technology to replace natural latex-based adhesives in
various medical applications.

4

H.B. Fuller At A Glance

Adhesives, Sealants and Coatings
H.B. Fuller Company’s largest worldwide business category is adhesives, sealants

and coatings. These products, in thousands of formulations, are sold to customers

in a wide range of industries. The black section contains brief profiles of our primary

markets.



Developments: From toluene-free to completely solvent-
free adhesive alternatives that help satisfy today’s increasingly
stringent environmental regulations while employing new
manufacturing techniques for faster, easier footwear
production.

Developments: ADVANTRA™ hot melt adhesives, which
offer flexible film laminating products that allow perfect
bound books to lay flat for easier reading.

New polymers for difficult-to-bond book components,
providing improved adhesion and performance.

Footwear
Business: Moisture-curing and
conventional hot melts, water-based
and toluene-free adhesive systems for
the diverse adhesive applications
required in the footwear industry.

Graphic Arts
Business: Adhesives used to bind
hardcover and paperback books,
magazines, trade journals, technical
manuals, phone books, puzzles and
game boards.

Nonwoven/Hygienic
Business: Primarily hot melt
adhesives used in the construction and
assembly of disposable diapers,
feminine care and adult incontinence
products and disposable medical
garments.

Developments: New technology for elastic attachment
adhesives offering improved performance while allowing the
customer to use less product.

Next-generation construction adhesives based on new
polymers offering enhanced product characteristics.

Global Coatings
Division
Business: Powder coatings are used
by the architectural, automotive, office
furniture, lawn and garden equipment
and other metal fabricating industries.

Developments: KOOLKOTE™ product line offers the high
heat performance of liquid coatings, while enjoying the environ-
mentally friendly benefits associated with powder coatings.

Engineered Wood Coating - A powder coating system that
can be applied to man-made wood products such as
medium density fiberboard used in office furniture, desk tops
and kitchen cabinets.

Linear Products, Inc.
Business: Worldwide leader in
reinforcement and easy-open features
for corrugated and folding carton
packaging, plus hot melt adhesives and
tape products for veneer composing.

Developments: Cutting Edge™ tape used to form the
cutting edge on corrugated boxes and folding cartons of
rolled aluminum foil, waxed paper and plastic wrap, which
provides a more efficient, economical and value-added
alternative to the traditional metal serrated edge.

Packaging
Business: Water-based and hot
melt adhesives used to close, seal,
label, wrap, reinforce, palletize and
prepare boxed, bottled and canned
products for shipping and use.

Developments: ADVANTRA™ hot melt adhesives help
manufacturers achieve better performance at a lower total
cost for case and carton sealing, tray forming, and other
packaging applications. ADVANTRA hot melts boast new
technology that improves and enhances all aspects of the
packaging process.
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TEC Specialty 
Products, Inc.
Business: Manufacturer and marketer
of ceramic tile installation products,
flooring adhesives, surface preparation
products, exterior insulation finish
systems and epoxy terrazzo flooring.

Developments: Introduced AccuColor® sanded and
unsanded caulks, for a complete color-matched tile
installation.

Made significant investments to upgrade manufacturing
capabilities at all facilities in response to TEC’s growing
market share in worldwide ceramic tile, flooring and exterior
finish markets.

Polymer
Business: Polymers manufactured
for use in adhesives, sealants and
coatings, used internally and
marketed externally.

Developments: New polymer products improve machine
stability and application performance for the Packaging/
Converting, Graphic Arts, Woodworking and Foster
Products markets.

Expanded Blue Ash, Ohio, manufacturing facility, adding two
new reactors and significantly increasing polymer production
capacity.

Tobacco
Business: Adhesives used to
manufacture and package cigarettes,
cigars, snuff, chewing tobacco and pipe
tobacco.

Developments: Enhanced Greensboro, N.C., manu-
facturing facility to meet more rigorous industry standards.

New water-based products keep pace with the extremely
high production speeds.

Window
Business: Sealants, thermal barriers
and a revolutionary new hot melt
desiccant used for window and
insulated glass assembly.

Developments: INSUL-CURE™ insulating glass sealant

combines the speed of handling of a hot melt with the high-

performance of a thermoset. The one-component

INSUL-CURE alleviates meter/mix and handling issues of the

traditional two-part thermosets.

Woodworking
Business: Adhesives for laminating
edgebanding, cabinet and furniture
assembly, flush door construction and a
range of millwork operations.

Developments: New high-performance hot melt

moisture-cure products used in the manufacturing of

various panel products such as office partitions, doors and

wall panels.

Paints
Business: Protecto® paints – the
leading brand in Central America –
used for interior and exterior con-
sumer and industrial applications, and
Glidden® paints, sold in Costa Rica,
Panama, and Ecuador.

Developments: High Standard™, by Protecto, the only
line in the market offering four latex finishes: flat, eggshell,
satin and high gloss.

Sellatec™, by Protecto, protects cement and concrete
surfaces against stain and provides alkaline resistance.
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Worldwide
Adhesives,
Sealants and
Coatings
Locations

ASIA/PACIFIC

Australia
Queensland
Brisbane

Victoria
Melbourne
Mount Waverley

Western
Australia
Perth

Indonesia
Jakarta

Japan
Tokyo
Hamamatsu City

Malaysia
Kuala Lumpur

New Zealand
Auckland

China
Beijing
Guangzhou
Hong Kong
Shanghai

Philippines
Manila

Singapore
Singapore

South Korea
Seoul
Taiwan
Taipai

Thailand
Bangkok

EUROPE

Austria
Wels

Belgium
Aartselaar

Germany
Lüneburg 
Munich
Nienburg

Italy
Borgolavezzaro

Poland
Warszawa

Sweden
Göteborg

United Kingdom
Buckinghamshire
Dukinfield
Derbyshire

CARIBBEAN

Dominican
Republic
Santo Domingo

CENTRAL
AMERICA

Costa Rica
San Jose

SOUTH AMERICA

Argentina
Buenos Aires

Bolivia
La Paz

Brazil
Sao Paulo
Sorocaba

Chile
Santiago

Colombia
Itagui-Antioquia

Peru
Lima

Uruguay
Montevideo

NORTH AMERICA

Canada

Ontario
Mississauga

Quebec
Boucherville

Mexico
Mexico City
Cuernavaca

United States

California
Chatsworth
Roseville

Florida
Pompano Beach

Georgia
Covington
Forest Park
Tucker

Illinois
Palatine

Indiana
Elkhart

Kansas
Mission

Kentucky
Paducah

Maryland
Baltimore

Michigan
Grand Rapids
Madison Heights*
Taylor*
Warren*

Minnesota
Fridley
St. Paul
Vadnais Heights

New Jersey
Edison

North Carolina
Concord
Greensboro

Ohio
Cincinnati
Dayton*

Tennessee
Memphis

Texas
Dallas

Wisconsin
Kimberly

* EFTEC 
North America

Locations

Worldwide
Specialty
Locations

ASIA/PACIFIC

Middle East
United 
Arab Emirates
Dubai

EUROPE
Netherlands
Deventer

United Kingdom
Birmingham
Buckinghamshire

CENTRAL
AMERICA

Costa Rica
San Jose

El Salvador
San Salvador

Guatemala
Guatemala City

Honduras
San Pedro Sula

Nicaragua
Managua

Panama
Panama City

SOUTH AMERICA

Ecuador
Guayaquil
Quito

NORTH AMERICA

Canada

Quebec
St. Andre Est

United States

California
La Mirada
Santa Fe Springs

Florida
Gainesville
Pompano Beach

Georgia
Covington

Illinois
Palatine
Tinley Park

Minnesota
Oakdale
St. Paul

New Jersey
Edison

Texas
Houston

Washington
Vancouver
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President’s Letter 
to Stakeholders

Decisive. Determined. Dynamic. These three words

best define H.B. Fuller Company today. If you have

followed us closely, you know that 1998 was a

watershed year for our company, as we began

redefining H.B. Fuller. Among the changes we

experienced was a transition in leadership. President and C.E.O. Walter

Kissling retired after 41 years of service to the company. I joined 

H.B. Fuller in mid-April, following a 29-year career with Bayer A.G.

Leading H.B. Fuller into the next millennium is an exciting opportunity.

Our company is rich with history, rich with enthusiastic and energetic

employees, and rich with ideas. These assets are essential as we

position H.B. Fuller to thrive in an increasingly competitive, global

operating environment.

In fiscal ’98, we faced some of the tough challenges inherent in

performing under such conditions. Our business, like that of other global

manufacturers, was impacted by the economic crisis in Asia. Initially, only

our regional business was affected, but as financial turmoil continued,

exports of goods from the United States and Europe slowed, resulting in

a secondary effect – the slowing of our largest adhesives market,

packaging. Elsewhere, slowdowns in Brazil and Chile also affected our

results, and the two-month General Motors strike in midyear impacted

our North American automotive-related businesses. Finally, we faced

pricing pressures due to the general economic downturn. 

Despite these significant challenges, we modestly grew our business

and continued to reduce costs. We increased sales 3.1 percent to

$1.347 billion. Operating expenses as a percent of sales declined 0.1

percent. Net earnings and net earnings per share (basic) of $37.3

million and $2.72, respectively, were only slightly better than 1997

results, prior to a restructuring charge of $21.3 million (after tax),

Albert P.L. Stroucken

Today’s H.B. Fuller

Decisive.
Determined.
Dynamic.
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taken in the third and fourth quarters.

Clearly, we’re not happy with our results. Throughout the company, we

have a strong desire to significantly grow our sales and earnings while

enhancing our position in specialty chemical markets – and are

committed to doing so. This resolve led us to develop and implement a

more aggressive strategic plan in 1998. Executing this plan was the

driving force behind our activity in the second half of the year, and will

continue to be a dominant focus in 1999. The remainder of this report is

devoted to reviewing the plan and our progress.

As we move forward, I am confident we will be successful in

implementing our plan and improving results, largely because of the

three attributes cited above: our organization today is decisive,

determined and dynamic.

• First, today’s H.B. Fuller is decisive. I believe that when you know what

must be done, you should act quickly. At H.B. Fuller, we understand

the “need for speed.” We also know how to strengthen our company

and position it for the future, and have developed and introduced a

solid plan to address both short-and long-term needs. Furthermore,

we are not afraid to make tough choices.

• Second, today’s H.B. Fuller is determined. We have in place many of

the ingredients essential to success: a world-class research facility,

many excellent product lines, renowned customer service, and most

importantly, knowledgeable, dedicated employees who want to win. 

• Finally, today’s H.B. Fuller is dynamic. One of the characteristics that

most impresses me about our company is its ability to transform itself.

H.B. Fuller employees are truly energized. They possess the zeal and

enthusiasm needed to turn challenges into opportunities, and are

actively doing so.

To be truly valuable, a mission
statement must be regarded as a
living document. In this spirit, as
H.B. Fuller Company refined its
strategic direction in 1998, it also
revised its mission statement.
Most notably, the changes made
represent the organization’s
current thinking: that all
constituents are equally
important, and that obligations to
them must be balanced if the
company is to be successful in
the future.

The new statement now reads:

“The H.B. Fuller Corporate
Mission is to serve its customers
as a leading worldwide formulator,
manufacturer and marketer of
technology-driven specialty
chemicals and other products
related to its area of expertise.
H.B. Fuller is committed to the
balanced interests of its
customers, employees,
shareholders and communities;
and accordingly, H.B. Fuller will
conduct business ethically and
profitably, support the activities of
its employees in their
communities, and exercise
leadership as a responsible
corporate citizen.”

Our
Mission
Statement

Energized to Meet Tomorrow’s Opportunities
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Decisive
Our plan

Beginning in May, the leadership team, composed of the

company’s key managers and myself, engaged in an

intensive strategic planning process. H.B. Fuller had taken

a number of steps throughout the past several years to

improve results and competitiveness. These included

initiatives reported on in 1997, notably efforts to

streamline procurement processes, a far-reaching review of corporate

functions and the related allocation of resources, and expansion of our

strategic business unit concept. These were an excellent start. We built on

this groundwork, developing a comprehensive plan, approved by the

board of directors in July.

The plan contains both operational objectives and strategic initiatives. Short-

term in nature, the operational objectives are, in essence, actions we are

taking now to become more competitive, cost-effective and responsive.

Results should become visible in 1999. Operational objectives include:

• Flattening the organizational structure 

• Reducing overall operating costs throughout our organization

• Globalizing supply chain management

• Selling or closing underperforming assets and divesting nonstrategic

businesses

While our objectives reflect our commitment to immediately improve

results, our strategic initiatives are dedicated to building an organization

that is strategically focused and positioned for sustainable long-term

growth and profitability.

Strategic initiatives include:

• Setting aggressive growth goals for our core adhesives business in

Today’s H.B. Fuller

Decisive.
Determined.
Dynamic.

Jim Conaty
President and Chief Executive Officer

EFTEC North America

“We continue to build our EFTEC
global franchise by capitalizing on
the strengths of each of our
regional businesses. Internal
benchmarking has helped us
identify best practices and
procedures throughout the joint
venture, and transfer these to
other parts of our worldwide
operations. For instance, in North
America, we are aggressively
pursuing market opportunities for
our European-developed
Windshield Bonding Adhesive
technology, while in Europe and
Asia, our U.S.-based Body Shop
Adhesive and Sealant expertise is
being transferred.”
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North America, key European markets, South

American growth markets (Brazil, Argentina, Chile),

and established Asia/Pacific markets.

• Strengthening our proven strategic business unit

(SBU) organization, to fully exploit its potential.

• Building and expanding our Specialty portfolio, to

capitalize on opportunities presented by these 

entrepreneurial, niche businesses.

• Realigning our Research and Development

organization to increase speed of commercialization

for new products and technologies, and to fully support our strategic

objectives.

• Strategically aligning compensation with corporate goals and

objectives.

Determined
Our progress

We have made solid progress in implementing the plan. To meet the

operational objectives, we have taken numerous actions, including the

following:

• Flattened organizational layers throughout the company, increasing

spans of responsibility where appropriate. We have reduced layers to

no more than six layers in the reporting chain. I firmly believe that

organizations with less hierarchy are more on top of their challenges

and better able to quickly surmount them and exploit future

opportunities. 

• Reduced our administrative workforce corporately, divisionally and

regionally.

• Streamlined our European operations, reducing the workforce at our

Lüneburg, and Nienburg, Germany, and Wels, Austria, production

facilities. We also announced the planned closing of manufacturing

Matthew Critchley
Group President and General Manager

Asia/Pacific ASC

Energized to Meet Tomorrow’s Opportunities

“In Asia/Pacific’s ever-changing
environment, the opportunities for
H.B. Fuller are immense. The
challenge is to identify the correct
ones, and to move quickly and
decisively. The company’s recent
restructuring and focus on global
strategic business units allows
this to occur. As a result, exciting
new business has developed in
footwear, graphic arts and
woodworking, which together
with several acquisitions, are
examples of how we are growing
our business.”
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facilities in France and the Netherlands. Since the end

of fiscal ’98 we have announced additional closings in

Spain and Switzerland.

• Began consolidating and centralizing manufacturing

operations in Latin America, announcing plant

closings in Venezuela, Puerto Rico and Honduras,

and expansions in Costa Rica and Colombia.

• Began converting direct sales offices to third-party

distributors, many of whom are former employees,

enabling us to reduce costs without sacrificing

customer service.  This is occurring in Ecuador, El Salvador, Guatemala,

Honduras, Panama and Puerto Rico.

• Closed, consolidated and relocated a number of offices and services

in our Asia/Pacific region to operate more cost effectively. For instance:

we relocated our group office from Hong Kong to Melbourne,

Australia; closed our production facility in Taiwan; downsized sales

offices in Japan; consolidated order entry services in Japan as well as

in Australia; and closed several warehouses in Australia.

• Hired a corporate vice president and manager of supply chain

management to lead the transformation of our procurement and

logistics functions, enacting a truly global strategy.

• Sold our North American glue stick and gun adhesives business to

Bostik Inc., and subsequently closed our Wilmington, Mass., plant.

We also divested our European specialty wax business to Paramelt

B.V. of the Netherlands, and announced our intent to sell our ink

business in Latin America.

By the time we complete the short-term portion of our plan in 1999, we

anticipate reducing employment levels by approximately 10 percent

worldwide (excluding acquisitions), and closing one-fourth of our

adhesives manufacturing facilities. Our restructuring efforts should

ultimately reduce operating costs in excess of $30 million on an

annualized basis. To cover expenses incurred in implementing the plan,

such as asset write-offs and severance, we announced an estimated

Today’s H.B. Fuller

Decisive.
Determined.
Dynamic.

“Tremendous changes are taking
place in Europe, as countries are
coming together as a strong,
homogeneous unit to better
compete in the global economy.
At H.B. Fuller, we are determined
to follow the same trend, and
have refocused and streamlined
our resources on the continent to
become a unified, strong and
dynamic team that can satisfy the
needs in our markets today and
tomorrow. We remain committed
to our leadership role, and will
continue to focus  on technology,
innovation and customer service
to secure further growth.”

Peter Koxholt
Group President and General Manager

Europe ASC
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$40 - $45 million (pre-tax) restructuring charge. As

previously noted, $21.3 million (after tax) of this charge

was taken in 1998, and the remainder will be taken by

the end of fiscal ’99.

Our strategic initiatives have progressed concurrently

with our operational activities. In 1998, we made the

following progress:

• Strengthened our position in core adhesives markets

in New Zealand and Australia by acquiring the adhesives business of

Peterson Chemicals from Ecolab Inc. and select assets from Croda

PLC. We likewise bolstered our presence in the United Kingdom with

the acquisition of Industrial Adhesives Limited (IAL), previously a

subsidiary of Burmah Castrol, and the Datac Group, a privately owned

business. 

• Restructured our global SBU organization, giving our global SBU

managers full responsibility for setting strategic market direction, and

aligning all support resources, including marketing, sales, technical

and operational support. This enables us to better focus our efforts,

apply resources more efficiently and effectively, and ultimately, places

us in a superb competitive position. 

• Added a global footwear SBU, to capitalize on growth opportunities in

the footwear adhesives market.

• Realigned our Research and Development organization to better

address strategic priorities. 

• Developed a compensation system based on Value Creation,

aligned with our strategic plan. It is being implemented in fiscal ’99.

We will use this business metric, defined as adjusted net operating

profit after tax minus the cost of average net invested capital, as a

key component of our senior management incentive plans.

Incentive bonuses will be paid in a combination of cash and stock

options. Value Creation will be driven throughout the organization, to

focus employees’ attention on our central purpose: creating value

Tony Lobo
Vice President and General Manager

Latin America ASC

Energized to Meet Tomorrow’s Opportunities

“In Latin America, H.B. Fuller’s
adhesives business is undergoing
a dramatic change, with the
consolidation of manufacturing
into fewer plants, the adoption of
a more efficient distribution model
for the smaller countries, and a
renewed focus on market
opportunities through our SBUs.
A great deal of effort has gone
into the design of the new
organization, which will become
fully functional during 1999. After
this intense change process, we
will be more efficient, more
customer-responsive and more
productive.”
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for all of our constituencies. In addition, we are

replacing our Profit Share Plus plan with a cash bonus

plan based on business unit performance.

I am proud of the significant progress our associates have

made in such a brief time, a sign of their determination.

Their accomplishments are particularly impressive when

you consider the challenging operating conditions 

H.B. Fuller, like other specialty chemical companies —

indeed, like all global manufacturers — faced in 1998. 

Again, we are convinced we are on the right track, and that our efforts

will begin to be reflected in our financial results in 1999.

Dynamic
Our people

Upbeat. Powerful. Vigorous. Active. These are but a few adjectives that

describe the H.B. Fuller spirit.  For, in addition to implementing our plan,

which required intensive participation at all levels of the organization, our

employees continue to strive for excellence — successfully — in their

day-to-day duties.  Consider the following 1998 accomplishments:

• Introduced ADVANTRA™ hot melt adhesives based upon a new

polymer technology. Customers applauded the line for its high

performance and trouble-free application.  Initial target markets

include packaging, graphic arts and nonwoven. ADVANTRA hot melts

have aggressive bonding properties, are odorless, boast a true clear

color and deliver a cleaner application.

• Purchased technology from NiTech Corporation that will be used to

produce free-flowing pressure sensitive adhesives (PSAs) in pelletized

form. This is the ideal way to handle PSAs, used primarily in the tape

and label market, and represents the first time such pellets will be

available on a wide-scale basis.

Al Longstreet
Senior Vice President

Global Strategic Business Units

Today’s H.B. Fuller

Decisive.
Determined.
Dynamic.

“We have positioned ourselves to
maximize our global capabilities
and meet the strategic needs of
our key markets by reorganizing
our global strategic business units
(SBUs). The new structure is
market-and technology-driven,
and will facilitate decision-making
and fuel growth. Ultimately, it will
enhance our global coverage and
expand our ability to rapidly
respond to market changes.”
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• Developed and introduced both water-based and hot

melt moisture cure technologies for the footwear

market. These offer the advantages of being solvent-

free, and in the case of hot melt moisture cure, a

speedier bond. Top footwear manufacturers

worldwide are testing our products.

• Introduced Cutting Edge™ tape, used to form the

cutting edge on corrugated boxes and folding

cartons of rolled aluminum foil, waxed paper and

plastic wrap. Linear Products, Inc., is marketing it as a more efficient,

economical and value-added alternative to the traditional metal

serrated edge.

• Opened a state-of-the-art manufacturing plant in Covington, Ga., to

meet the need for increased capacity in our Global Coatings

business. The facility is designed to efficiently handle large powder

coating production runs.

• Began transferring direct glazing technology from our EFTEC joint

venture partner, to increase our market presence in the North

American automotive industry.

• Continued implementation of our Progress 2000 initiative, a

comprehensive, multi-year effort to develop a standard information

technology infrastructure throughout the company by the year 2000.

The PRISM component (incorporating customer order entry,

manufacturing and finance) has now been implemented in nearly all

Specialty businesses (Global Coatings; TEC Specialty Products, Inc.;

Linear Products, Inc.; and Foster Products Incorporated); select ASC

locations (Canada, Europe and Australia), and EFTEC operations.

Remaining North American and Japanese operations plan to

implement PRISM in 1999.

• Built introductory modules of our Technical Knowledge System (TKS),

the second part of our Progress 2000 initiative. TKS is a global

knowledge management system with two key components: a central

database, which will be used to capture, distill and globally distribute

technical knowledge throughout H.B. Fuller; and a laboratory project

Walter Nussbaumer
Chief Technology Officer

Energized to Meet Tomorrow’s Opportunities

“Our future success will strongly
depend on deploying all
available tools and resources
with focus and diligence, to
significantly speed up the
development process for new
technologies and products. An
in-depth understanding of
material properties, their
interactions, and how they
affect and are impacted by the
environment, are important
differentiating factors in the race
for success. Interaction and
cooperation with suppliers and
customers are likewise
essential.”
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management system, which will enable us to

document, prioritize, track, and evaluate laboratory

projects. TKS is currently being implemented, with

completion targeted for the end of the year 2000.

• Continued preparations to retrofit and update

information systems in anticipation of the upcoming

Year 2000 date change.  Completed assessments

throughout all regions and began upgrading core

business applications, as necessary.  Most “mission

critical” systems will be compliant by April 1999; we

anticipate the majority of applications will be compliant by mid-year.

Also established a Year 2000 project office and cross-functional task

force to identify business risks and develop contingency plans and other

strategies to minimize or avoid business disruption.

• Achieved ISO certification at facilities in Roseville, Calif.; Palatine, Ill.;

Fridley, Minn.; Greensboro, N.C.; Memphis, Tenn.; and Mississauga,

Ontario, Canada; re-certification in Paducah, Ky., and Houston, and

QS9000 registration (a comparable standard with requirements

specific to the automotive industry) at our Mesquite, Texas, facility.

Our Taylor, Mich., facility, part of our EFTEC automotive joint venture,

also became compliant in 1998.  Including joint venture sites, 27

H.B. Fuller facilities have now attained this standard.

• Received Environmental Protection Agency certification for

completing Green Lights, a voluntary program that promotes the use

of energy-efficient lighting technologies, while reducing the

company’s energy costs.

• Continued to play an active role in many of our communities, both

through employee volunteerism and corporate contributions,

celebrating 25 years of commitment to our communities in 1998.

• Responded on a worldwide basis to hurricane-devastated Central

America, as employees made personal contributions, matched two-for-

one by the company, and helped locally with clean-up and relief efforts.

John Ray
Senior Vice President and 

General Manager, North America ASC

Today’s H.B. Fuller

“Our greatest strength stems
from a single, successful formula
– one combining industry focus,
innovative technology, and most
importantly, responsive
customer service. For more than
a century, H.B. Fuller has
differentiated itself with a higher
level of commitment and
expertise. Our relationship with
customers is based on
continuing communication,
practical problem-solving,
speedy response, and a solid,
long-term confidence earned by
a history of successes. Serving
the customer continues to be
our top priority. It’s a strategy
that brought us success in the
past, and it will continue to
energize us in the future.”

Decisive.
Determined.
Dynamic.
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Energized to meet 
tomorrow’s opportunities
Our future

Looking ahead to 1999, we expect to be challenged by

similar market conditions — global slowdowns,

unfavorable currency trends, and stiff competition. These

are simply the facts of commerce today. At H.B. Fuller

Company, we view these as challenging opportunities to

build a better business, creating value for all of you who

have a stake in our company.

Today’s H.B. Fuller is a decisive, determined and dynamic organization.

We are excited about the future, and are boldly confident that our

capabilities, plans and actions will lead us to success. Indeed: we are

energized to turn tomorrow’s challenges into opportunities. 

Albert P.L. Stroucken 

President and Chief Executive Officer

Energized to Meet Tomorrow’s Opportunities

Linda Welty 
Group President and 

General Manager, Specialty 

“By functioning autonomously,
the Specialty Group’s five
divisions have been able to act
decisively, identifying and
responding quickly to market
needs, subsequently growing
their respective businesses
swiftly, in an entrepreneurial
fashion. As a result, Specialty
has become a significant
contributor to H.B. Fuller’s
portfolio. We look forward to
becoming an even more
dynamic part of the company
as we move toward the next
millennium, by continuing to
cultivate the unique
opportunities presented to our
niche businesses.”



In 1998, H.B. Fuller Company formed a Leadership Council, guided by 

Al Stroucken and comprised of the senior managers in charge of

operations and administrative functions. The Leadership Council is

responsible for developing, implementing and regularly reviewing the

company’s strategic plan. In addition to Al Stroucken, it includes several

executives new to H.B. Fuller in 1998. Linda Welty, previously with

Clariant International, joined H.B. Fuller Company as head of the

Specialty Division in September, succeeding Sarah Coffin, who accepted

a position outside the company. Peter Koxholt, formerly of Bayer A.G.,

succeeded the retiring Hermann Lagally in Europe, effective Jan. 1, 1999.

Walter Nussbaumer, director of Research and Development, was

promoted to vice president and chief technology officer, as Rolf

Schubert retired from that position after 37 years of service to

H.B. Fuller. Matthew Critchley was promoted to group president

and general manager of the Asia/Pacific Adhesives Sealants and

Coatings business, succeeding Al Longstreet, who took on the

new assignment of group manager for global SBUs. 

Leadership Council



Also serving on the Leadership Council in 1998 were Jerry Scott, who

retired from his position as senior vice president, Operations, in October,

after 36 years with the company, and Joe Pellish, vice president of

Environment, Health and Safety, who will retire early this year. We welcome

the talent and expertise of those new to our team, and extend our

gratitude and best wishes to those moving on to a new facet of life.

Members of the Leadership

Council, from left to right,

beginning with the top row:

Al Stroucken
President and CEO

Rick Baker 
General Counsel

Jorge Walter Bolaños
CFO and Treasurer

Lars Carlson
Administration

Jim Conaty 
EFTEC

Matthew Critchley
Asia/Pacific ASC

Peter Koxholt
Europe ASC

Tony Lobo
Latin America ASC

Al Longstreet
Global SBUs

Dave Maki
Controller

Jim Metts
Human Resources

Mike Modak
Corporate Planning and

Development

Walter Nussbaumer 
Research and Development

Dan Piteleski 
Information Technology

John Ray
North America ASC

Linda Welty
Specialty
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I started my career with H.B. Fuller Company more
than 40 years ago, as a field sales representative
based in Omaha, Neb. At the time, H.B. Fuller was a
cluster of regional companies, operating across the
United States, generating sales of approximately
$8 million. Today, we do business on a global basis,
reaching customers in more than 100 countries.

As we grew in size, we evolved, adapting our
operations to meet the changing needs of our
customers. Guiding us at each major juncture were
our core values – responsibility, honesty and
respect – and they remain our guideposts today.  

In Al Stroucken’s letter, you read of the
transformation H.B. Fuller is currently undergoing
as we prepare our company for the next century.
This is, no doubt, one of the most intense periods
of change our company has experienced.  Al  has
told us it is necessary if we are to remain a
competitive force, one capable of serving all its
constituencies well.  

Such change, however, doesn’t mean that we
are losing sight of what has consistently made 
H.B. Fuller a great company. Indeed, quite the
contrary. It could be said the art of progress is to
preserve sound values amid change and to
encourage change while maintaining the sound

values. More than ever, in this fast-paced world,
we need our values and principles to guide us as
we make decisions that affect our customers,
our employees, our shareholders/owners and
our communities.

Throughout my association with H.B. Fuller, I have
been proud of the dedication we have shown our
constituencies: customers, employees, share-
holders/owners and communities. While we
make changes in our operations, our commit-
ment to each must remain steadfast. 

Today’s H.B. Fuller is an exciting company. In
addition to Al and his leadership team, H.B. Fuller
has a strong group of associates determined to
help ensure the company’s future success. Our
employees are the core strength of our
company. They have the values, know-how,
experience and energy to build the company.

Though we have a 112-year history, it was nearly 60
years ago...1941...when Elmer Andersen acquired
the majority of shares from Mr. Harvey Fuller
following Mr. Fuller’s heart attack. Elmer put the
company on the growth track with solid values,
beliefs, and principles. As he approaches his 90th
birthday in June 1999, we can say thank you for
what you did for H.B. Fuller Company and have a
happy 90th!

As always, we appreciate your support of 
H.B. Fuller, and look forward to the year ahead.

Tony Andersen

Chair, Board of Directors

Anthony L. Andersen

Chair - Board of Directors (A,d,f,g)

Chairman’s Letter to Stakeholders
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Norbert R. Berg

Retired Deputy

Chairman of the Board

Control Data Corporation

Minneapolis, Minnesota (C,d)

Edward L. Bronstien, Jr. 

President, Rybovich Spencer

West Palm Beach, Florida (a,c,D)

Robert J. Carlson

Retired Chairman of the Board

Advanced Aerospace Design Corp.

Scottsdale, Arizona (f)

Freeman A. Ford

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

Fafco, Inc.

Menlo Park, California (b,F)

Gail D. Fosler

Vice President, Chief Economist

The Conference Board

New York, New York (f)

Reatha Clark King

President, Executive Director

General Mills Foundation

Minneapolis, Minnesota (b,G)

Walter Kissling

Retired President and 

Chief Executive Officer

H.B. Fuller Company

St. Paul, Minnesota (e)

John J. Mauriel, Jr.

Faculty, Carlson School 

of Management

University of Minnesota

Minneapolis, Minnesota (B,e)

Lee R. Mitau

Executive Vice President

General Counsel and Secretary

U.S. Bancorp

Minneapolis, Minnesota (c,d)

Rolf Schubert

Former Chief Technology Officer 

H.B. Fuller Company

St Paul, Minnesota (e,g)

Albert P.L. Stroucken

President and 

Chief Executive Officer

H.B. Fuller Company

St. Paul, Minnesota (a,f)

Lorne C. Webster

Chairman  and

Chief Executive Officer

Prenor Group, Ltd.

Montreal, Quebec, Canada (E)

Committees of the Board — 
Upper-case letter indicates
committee chair
A = Executive
B = Audit
C = Compensation
D = Corporate Governance
E = Retirement Plans
F = Finance
G = Corporate Responsibility

Officers are shown in alphabetical order, from left to right, beginning with the top row.

Board of Directors



Albert P.L. Stroucken
President and
Chief Executive Officer

Jorge Walter Bolaños
Senior Vice President 
Chief Financial Officer 
and Treasurer

Lars T. Carlson
Senior Vice President
Administration

Alan R. Longstreet
Senior Vice President
Global Strategic Business Units

John T. Ray, Jr.
Senior Vice President
General Manager
North American ASC 

Richard C. Baker
Vice President
General Counsel and Secretary

Evelyn M. Borsheim
Assistant Corporate Secretary

Peter Butenschön
Vice President
Group Controller Europe

James R. Conaty
President and
Chief Executive Officer
EFTEC North America

Matthew Critchley
Group President 
General Manager
Asia/Pacific ASC

Paul Dorwart
Vice President
General Manager
Linear Products, Inc.

Peter Koxholt
Group President
General Manager
Europe ASC

Antonio Lobo
Vice President
General Manager
Latin America ASC

David J. Maki
Vice President
Corporate Controller

Gerald K. McGinty
Vice President
Global Packaging/Converting SBU

James A. Metts
Vice President
Human Resources

Walter Nussbaumer
Chief Technology Officer

Wendell W. Ostlie
Vice President
Product Development ASC

William H. Palmatary
Vice President
Operations
North American ASC

Joseph M. Pellish
Vice President
Environment, Health & Safety

Dan Piteleski
Vice President
Information Technology

Armin Preuss
Vice President
Europe ASC

Gerald J. Rudolph
Vice President
Manager, Supply Chain Management

Helmut Schweiger
Vice President
Europe ASC

Linda J. Welty
Group President 
and General Manager
Specialty

As of January 1, 1999

Officers
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The following discussion includes comments and data relating to
the Company’s financial condition and results of operations for
the three fiscal years ended November 28, 1998. This section
should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial
Statements and related Notes as they contain important
information for evaluation of the Company’s comparative
financial condition and operating results.

Results of Operations:
1998 Compared to 1997

Worldwide sales for 1998 were a record $1,347,241, an increase
of $40,452 or 3.1 percent over 1997 sales of $1,306,789. The
sales increase was the result of 2.5 percentage points from
increased volume and product mix, a net increase of 3.3
percentage points from acquisitions and divestitures, a negative
1.0 percentage point from reduced pricing and a negative 1.7
percentage points due to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar.

Sales changes by geographic area were as follows:

Area Increase/(Decrease)
North America $7,395 1%
Latin America 5,047 3%
Europe 38,454 16%
Asia/Pacific (10,444) (11%)
Total $40,452 3%

Net earnings for the year decreased from $36,940 in 1997 to
$15,990 in 1998. The earnings in 1998 were impacted by
$26,747 ($21,284 after tax) of non-recurring charges. 1997 net
earnings included a ($3,368) accounting change.

During 1998, the Company incurred non-recurring charges of
$26,747 related to a restructuring plan (See Note 3 to
Consolidated Financial Statements). The restructuring charges
for the year included $16,453 of net severance related costs
(609 employees), $17,108 for the write-down of assets due to
the restructuring plan, $845 for contract and lease charges
impacted by the restructuring and $1,322 in other restructuring
expenses. These charges were offset by $8,981 of gains on the
sale of two businesses divested as a part of the plan. The
restructuring plan actually generated $2,511 in cash in 1998,
with the proceeds of the businesses sold exceeding the cash
expended. At the end of 1998, the balance of the restructuring
reserve was as follows: 
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(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Management’s Analysis of Results of Operations 
and Financial Condition

Trade Sales by Class of Product

Sales to Unaffiliated Customers

Operating Earnings

91%
Adhesives, 

Sealants and 
Coatings

58%
North America

71%
North America

21%
Europe

15%
Latin America

19%
Latin America

11% Europe

6% Asia/Pacific

-1% Asia/Pacific

8% Paints
1% Other



North Latin Asia/
America Europe America Pacific Total

Balance
November 29,
1997 $    – $     – $      – $   – $ –

Accruals in 1998:
Severance 4,749 8,726 3,765 278 17,518
Contracts/leases 526 266 – 53 845
Consulting 121 764 12 2 899
Other 193 – 126 104 423

Payments in 1998:
Severance (2,757) (998) (624) (190) (4,569)
Contracts/leases (526) – – (53) (579)
Consulting (121) (764) (12) (2) (899)
Other (193) – (126) (104) (423)

Balance
November 28, 1998 $1,992 $7,994 $3,141 $88 $13,215

The restructuring plan anticipated a non-recurring charge of
$40,000 to $45,000 (before tax) over six quarters, a reduction of
employee census of more than 600 and a reduction of costs in
excess of $30,000 (before tax) annually, when completed. Cash
requirements of this plan were estimated to be $29,000 to
$30,000 and will primarily by expended in fiscal 1999. As a result
of selling two business units in the fourth quarter of 1998, the
total amount of the charge is now estimated to be from $35,000
to $40,000 (before tax) with approximately $8,000 to $13,000 to
be incurred in fiscal 1999. The cash requirements are now
estimated to be $24,000 to $25,000. The Company has
adequate lines of credit to fund these payments.

In North America, the one percent sales increase was composed
of 2 percentage points related to increased volume and changes
in product mix and a negative one percentage point impact from
pricing and currency. The Adhesives, Sealants and Coatings
Group had a 2 percent decrease in sales compared to 1997
primarily due to a reduction in paper converting sales. The
Automotive Group (EFTEC) had a 7 percent increase in sales
compared to the prior year with 5 percentage points of the
increase the result of the 1997 Automotive acquisitions for the
full year. The General Motors strike during the third quarter of
1998 had an approximate 5 percentage point negative impact on
1998 EFTEC annual sales. In the Specialty Group, sales
increased 5 percent. Strong increases in TEC Specialty
Products, Inc. and Foster Products Corporation sales were
offset by reduced Linear Products Inc. sales. North American
operating earnings decreased from $59,940 to $56,507, before

the $12,879 non-recurring charge. The primary reasons for this
decrease were the impact of the General Motors strike and the
impact of reduced paper converting sales.

In Latin America, 1998 sales increased 3 percent from 1997. The
increase in sales was composed of 5 percentage points relating
to increased volume and changes in product mix partially offset
by a 2 percentage point decrease in pricing. Latin American
operating earnings decreased 10 percent when compared to
1997, decreasing from $15,659 to $14,111, before the $7,406
non-recurring charge. Low volumes, economic pressure within
the region and the impact of Hurricane Mitch were the primary
reasons for the reduction in operating earnings.

In Europe, the 16 percent 1998 sales increase was composed of
4 percentage points due to increased volume and changes in
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Return on Net Sales

Return on Average Assets
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product mix, a net 16 percentage point increase related to two
1998 United Kingdom (U.K.) acquisitions and the divestiture of
the construction business in 1997 and the wax business in 1998,
and a negative 4 percentage points from pricing and
strengthening of the U.S. dollar. Operating earnings increased
from $11,112 in 1997 to $17,627 in 1998, before the $6,025
non-recurring charge, with operating earnings from the U.K.
acquisitions and control of operating expenses being the primary
reasons for the increase.

Asia/Pacific sales decreased 11 percent from sales in 1997. The
strengthening of the U.S. dollar, compared to local currencies,
caused a 15 percentage point decrease. The remaining changes
were a positive 6 percentage point increase due to increased
volume and changes in product mix, offset by a net negative 2
percentage points resulting from a divestiture and an acquisition
in New Zealand in 1998 and an acquisition in Australia late in
1997. Operating earnings decreased from $541 in 1997 to
operating losses of $286 in 1998, before the non-recurring
charge of $437, with all of the change resulting from the New
Zealand divestiture.

The Company continues to develop its organization and
implement strategies to effectively serve large global customers,
recognizing that, along with significant opportunities for sales
growth, such an approach also carries the usual risks of
increasing dependence on fewer large customers. In 1998, no
single customer accounted for over 5 percent of Companywide
sales. Increasing globalization of corporate functions such as
information technology, purchasing, research and development,
manufacturing, engineering and quality programs should result in
improved productivity and customer service.

Consolidated gross margin for the Company, as a percent of
sales, decreased from 31.6 percent in 1997 to 31.3 percent in
1998. During 1998, the Company overall experienced stable raw
material costs. Gross margins for Europe improved from 1997
levels. The primary cause for the overall decrease in gross
margins were economic pressures in Latin America and
Asia/Pacific.

Consolidated selling, administrative and other expenses for the
Company, excluding non-recurring charges (See Note 3 to
Consolidated Financial Statements), increased $8,210 or 2.5
percent from 1997, and as a percent of sales, decreased from
24.9 percent in 1997 to 24.8 percent in 1998. This decrease was
primarily the result of employee census control, cost control
efforts and continued globalization of the Company. The year-

end 1998 employee census decreased one percent to 6,000 in
spite of the fact that 1998 acquisitions and divestitures added
approximately 200 employees.

Interest expense was $26,989 in 1998, up $7,153 or 36.1
percent from the prior year. Total Company borrowings at year-
end 1998 were above that at year-end 1997, primarily as a result
of borrowings to fund acquisitions. Capitalized interest costs
associated with major property and equipment projects
decreased from $1,245 in 1997 to $822 in 1998.

Other income/expense, net, changed from $7,295 expense in
1997 to $4,674 expense in 1998, primarily as a result of 1997
consulting costs and the 1997 costs associated with pursuing a
large acquisition. (See Notes 1 and 2 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements).
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Return on Invested Capital (a)

Return on Average Equity
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Gains on the sale of assets decreased from $5,199 or $0.22 per
share (basic) in 1997 to $3,237 or $0.14 per share (basic) in
1998, excluding the sale of businesses as part of the
restructuring plan.

Income taxes totaled $18,826 in 1998, a 29.4 percent decrease
from $26,651 in 1997. The effective tax rate in 1998 equaled the
40.8 percent in 1997, after the consideration of the low tax
benefit provided for a portion of the non-recurring charges
incurred in countries where no tax benefit is available.

Results of Operations:
1997 Compared to 1996

Worldwide sales for 1997 were $1,306,789, an increase of
$31,073 or 2.4 percent over 1996 sales of $1,275,716. 

Sales changes by geographic area were as follows:

Area Increase/(Decrease)
North America $38,421 5%
Latin America 8,322 5%
Europe (24,165) (9%)
Asia/Pacific 8,495 10%
Total $31,073 2%

In North America, the 5 percent increase in sales is composed of
a 6 percentage point increase due to volume and change in
product mix and a negative one percentage point related to
pricing and strengthening of the U.S. dollar. North American
operating earnings increased 4.3 percent compared to 1996.
Some bonuses were not paid in 1996. On a comparable basis,
adjusting for these bonuses, operating earnings increased 12.5
percent year over year.

Within North America, the Adhesives, Sealants and Coatings
(ASC) Group produced a 7 percent sales increase over 1996
with 5 percentage points of the increase a result of expanded
sales within core industrial markets and moderate sales growth
by the ASC structural group, especially in the engineered
systems and window markets. ASC Group operating earnings
had a strong increase over 1996, supported by relatively stable
raw material costs and lower operating expenses resulting from
continuing cost containment programs.

North American automotive sales experienced a 9 percent
increase over 1996 automotive sales and was composed of 13
percentage points resulting from EFTEC and a 1996 acquisition,
offset by 4 percentage points of negative pricing. Operating

earnings decreased substantially as a result of low unit growth in
the base business, negative pricing, competitive pressures in the
automotive market, and costs of merging and integrating the
automotive business.

The North American Specialty Group, adjusted for the sale of the
Monarch Division in the third quarter of 1996, experienced an 11
percent sales increase and a substantial operating earnings
increase in 1997 compared to 1996. Global Coatings Division
had a significant increase in sales, TEC Specialty Products Inc.
had a strong sales increase and Foster Products Corporation
and Linear Products Inc. had moderate increases in sales.

Sales by the Company’s Latin American operations increased 5
percent compared to the sales of the prior year, with a 6
percentage point increase resulting from volume and product mix
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and a negative one percentage point resulting from decreased
pricing. Operating earnings for Latin America increased 19.2
percent compared to 1996. On a comparative basis, adjusting for
bonuses not paid in 1996, operating earnings increased 29.3
percent. The increase in operating earnings resulted from
improved unit volume growth and increased gross margins.

Sales in Europe decreased 9 percent in 1997 compared to 1996,
with the strengthening of the U.S. dollar negatively affecting the
sales by 10 percentage points. The one percentage point increase
in local currency sales was primarily from an 8 percentage point
improvement in volume and change in product mix, which was
partially offset by 7 percentage points from negative pricing and
the impact of the sale of the construction business. Operating
earnings decreased 6.3 percent in 1997 compared to the prior
year. On a comparable basis, excluding the benefit of not paying
bonuses in 1996, operating income increased 25.5 percent.

Sales in Asia/Pacific increased 10 percent in 1997 from 1996. The
strengthening of the U.S. dollar accounted for a decrease of 8
percentage points. The 18 percentage point increase in local
currency sales included 19 percentage points from increased
volume and change in product mix which was partially offset by
one percentage point of negative pricing. Operating losses in the
region in 1996 were replaced with a slight operating gain in 1997.

Consolidated gross margin for the Company, as a percent of
sales, decreased from 31.7 percent in 1996 to 31.6 percent in
1997. On a comparable basis, excluding the favorable impact of
not paying bonuses in 1996, gross margins, as a percent of
sales, improved from 31.3 percent in 1996 to 31.6 percent in
1997. During 1997, the Company overall experienced relatively
stable raw material costs. Gross margins for North American
ASC and Specialty Group, Latin America and Asia/Pacific
improved from 1996 levels.

Consolidated selling, administrative and other expenses for the
Company increased $2,241 or 0.7 percent from 1996, and as a
percent of sales, decreased from 25.4 percent in 1996 to 24.9
percent in 1997. This was primarily the result of employee census
control, cost control efforts and continued globalization of the
Company. The year-end 1997 number of employees increased 2
percent, to 6,000, with virtually all of the added census resulting
from the 1997 acquisitions. Excluding the favorable bonus
nonpayment in 1996, operating expenses decreased $1,749 or 0.5
percent and the 1996 percent to sales increased to 25.7 percent.

Interest expense was $19,836 in 1997, up $955 or 5.1 percent
from the prior year. Total Company borrowing at year-end 1997

was above that at year-end 1996, primarily as a result of
borrowing to fund benefit plans and the repurchase of 300,000
shares of Company stock. Capitalized interest costs
associated with major property and equipment projects
decreased from $2,518 in 1996 to $1,245 in 1997.

Other income/expense, net, changed from $1,995 expense in
1996 to $7,295 expense in 1997, primarily as a result of
increased currency losses in Asia/ Pacific, 1997 consulting
costs and the costs associated with pursuing a large
acquisition which was not consummated. (See Notes 1 and 2
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)

Gain on sale of assets decreased from $16,673 or $0.71 per
share (basic) in 1996 to $5,199 or $0.22 per share (basic) in
1997. The gain in 1996 was primarily the result of the sale of
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Capital Expenditures, Gross (In millions)
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Monarch sanitation chemicals.

Income taxes totaled $26,651 in 1997, a 14.7 percent decrease
from $31,233 in 1996. The effective tax rate was 40.8 percent in
both 1997 and 1996.

Net earnings for 1997 were $36,940, a decrease of $8,490 or
18.7 percent from 1996 earnings of $45,430. 1997 net earnings
were adversely affected by an accounting change charge of
$3,368. As discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Company changed its accounting for certain
information technology transformation costs to conform with
issue No. 97-13 of the Emerging Issues Task Force.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company generated $51,972 in cash from operations in
1998 compared to $68,581 in 1997 and $81,261 in 1996. The
decrease in 1998 resulted primarily from increased cash
required to fund working capital, excluding the non-recurring
charges. The Company also generated cash from divestitures
and the sale of assets. (See Note 5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.) Major other uses of cash during 1998
were capital expenditures, purchase of businesses and
payment of dividends. Cash was $4,605 at November 28,
1998, compared to $2,710 at November 29,1997. The $4,605
cash balance and unused lines of credit at November 28, 1998
are considered adequate to meet Company obligations over the
next year.

Working capital was $172,740 at November 28, 1998,
compared to $171,607 at November 29, 1997. A primary reason
for the increase in working capital is increased working capital
required to support businesses purchased in 1998. The current
ratio at year-end 1998 was 1.6. The number of days sales in
trade accounts receivable was 60 at November 28,1998, an
increase of seven days sales from 53 at November 29, 1997.
The average days sales in inventory on hand was 63 in 1998
compared to 62 in 1997.

Management believes that the Company will continue to have
access to short-term and long-term credit markets to fund its
working capital requirements, capital expenditure programs and
future acquisitions. The Company's ratio of long-term debt to
total capitalization was 46.8 percent at November 28, 1998,
compared to 40.4 percent at November 29,1997. At year-end
1998, the Company had short-term and long-term lines of credit
of $372,636 of which $260,000 was committed. The unused
portion of these lines of credit was $266,307.

Capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment of
$62,327 in 1998 were primarily for completion of construction of
a manufacturing plant in Georgia, an information systems
project, general improvements in manufacturing productivity and
operating efficiency and various environmental projects.
Environmental capital expenditures are less than 10 percent of
total expenditures and are not a material portion of overall
Company expenditures. Future commitments related to 1998
capital projects are estimated to be approximately $25,000.

Over the recent past, approximately 50 percent of the
Company’s sales have come from its foreign subsidiaries.
Swings in exchange rates, particularly the deutsche mark and
Japanese yen, can have an impact on the Company’s results.
(See Note 1 to Consolidated Financial Statements.) The
Company will continue to monitor changing economic conditions
in the South American countries, specifically Brazil where the
Company has an investment of $4,100. The Company's
operations in Europe use forward foreign exchange contracts to
hedge foreign currency denominated accounts receivable/
payable and inter-company loans.

Impact of the Year 2000 Issue

The Year 2000 Issue is the result of computer programs being
written using two digits rather than four to define the applicable
year. As a result of this issue, computer programs that have
date-sensitive software may recognize a date using "00" as the
year 1900 rather than the year 2000. The Year 2000 Issue could
result in system failures or miscalculations causing disruption of
operations, including, among other things, a temporary inability
to process transactions involving the recording of sales,
manufacture of products, management of inventory and
distribution, preparation of invoices and collection of accounts
receivable.

The Company's Year 2000 Project Office (consisting of
information technology ("IT") personnel) has established a three-
phase program to address the Year 2000 Issue. The three
phases consist of (a) an assessment phase, (b) an analysis and
resolution strategy phase and (c) a remediation and testing
phase. The compliance program focuses on the Company's IT
as well as non-lT systems (which systems contain embedded
technology in manufacturing or process control equipment
containing microprocessors or similar circuitry).

The assessment phase, during which the Year 2000 Project
Office attempted to identify all hardware and software that affect
the Company's operations, has been completed with respect to
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most of the Company's operations. Based on the results of the
assessment phase, the Company has determined that its
primary hardware and operating system software used in North
American operations is Year 2000 compliant. In addition, the
Company's internal laboratory and regulatory systems, as well
as the Company's financial and enterprise resource planning
systems for most division locations in North America, England,
Australia, Brazil, Argentina, and Chile are compliant. The
Company's Year 2000 Project Office has determined that the
Company will need to update or replace certain other hardware
and software so that its computer systems will properly utilize
dates after December 31, 1999.

The Company is currently in the remediation and testing phase
of the program with respect to most non-compliant systems
used in its North American operations. Outside the United
States, the Company is addressing compliance issues on a
region-by-region basis. The Company is in the analysis and
resolution strategy phase in certain locations, and in the
remediation and testing phase in other locations. The Company
has a timeline for completing all internal Year 2000 remediation
projects. The Company currently anticipates these projects will
be completed prior to June 30, 1999.

The Company has also begun assessing Year 2000 compliance
issues relating to companies with which it has third-party
outsourcing relationships on a global basis, such as a financial
institution administering employee benefit plans, tele-
communications providers and health care providers. The
Company has requested assurances from its significant
suppliers that they are addressing the Year 2000 Issue and that
products purchased by the Company from such suppliers will
function properly in the Year 2000. The Company will continue to
assess supplier compliance issues. In addition, the Company is
communicating with its major customers regarding the
Company's Year 2000 compliance efforts. However, it is
impossible to fully assess the potential consequences in the
event service interruptions from suppliers occur or in the event
that there are disruptions in such infrastructure areas as utilities,
communications, transportation, banking and government.

In October 1998, the Company formed a Year 2000 Task Force
(consisting of representatives from its financial, IT, legal and risk
management departments and from its key business units) to
further address internal and external Year 2000 Issues.

The Company incurred Year 2000 compliance costs of
approximately $2,000 over a two-year period ending

November 28, 1998. The current total estimated cost to
complete Year 2000 compliance efforts over the next year is
$1,200 to $1,500. In recent years, the Company has replaced
certain of its financial and operating systems. These systems
have not required modification to address the Year 2000 Issue,
and, as a result, the Company’s Year 2000 costs have been
relatively low. Estimates of Year 2000 costs are based on
numerous assumptions, and there can be no assurance that
the estimates are correct or that the actual costs will not be
greater than anticipated.

The Company’s most reasonably likely worst case Year 2000
Issue scenario is a potential inability to obtain raw materials from
suppliers in a timely manner, due either to a supplier’s inability to
manufacture the product or ship it. In such event, the Company
may experience a delay in its ability to manufacture and deliver
products when ordered by customers. The Company is currently
evaluating its alternatives to mitigate the effect of such scenario,
if it occurs.

The Company has developed preliminary contingency plans
addressing the potential failure of its manufacturing equipment
and order entry telephone system due to Year 2000 problems.
The Company is developing contingency plans to address other
potential failures or delays due to the Year 2000 Issue.

Based on its assessments and current knowledge, the Company
believes it will not, as a result of the Year 2000 Issue, experience
any material disruptions in internal manufacturing processes,
information processing or interfaces with major customers, or
with processing orders and billing. However, if certain third-party
providers, such as providers of electricity, water or telephone
service, experience difficulties resulting in disruption of service to
the Company, a shutdown of the Company's operations at
individual facilities could occur for the duration of the disruption.
Assuming no major disruption in service from utility companies or
other critical third-party providers, the Company believes that it
will be able to manage its total Year 2000 transition without any
material effect on the Company's results of operations or
financial condition.

Safe Harbor Statement Under the Private
Securities Litigation Act of 1995

Certain statements in this Annual Report are forward-looking
statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. These statements are subject to various
risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to the following:
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the Asian economic crises and other political economic
conditions; product demand and industry capacity; competitive
products and pricing; manufacturing efficiencies; new product
development; product mix; availability and price of raw materials
and critical manufacturing equipment; new plant startups;
accounts receivable collection; the Company’s relationships  with
its major customers and suppliers; changes in tax laws and
tariffs; patent rights that could provide significant advantage to a
competitor; foreign exchange rate fluctuations (particularly with
respect to the German mark and the Japanese yen); the
regulatory and trade environment; the Year 2000 computer
issue; the conversion  to the euro currency by European
Community member states; and other risks as indicated from
time to time in the Company’s filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. All forward-looking information
represents management’s best judgment as of this date based
on information currently available that in the future may prove to
have been inaccurate.
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Consolidated 
Statements of Earnings

Fiscal Year Ended
November 28, November 29, November 30,

1998 1997 1996
Net sales $1,347,241 $1,306,789 $1,275,716
Cost of sales 925,370 893,835 871,501

Gross profit 421,871 412,954 404,215
Selling, administrative and other expenses 333,912 325,702 323,461
Non-recurring charges 26,747 – –

Operating earnings 61,212 87,252 80,754
Interest expense (26,989) (19,836) (18,881)
Gains from sales of assets 3,237 5,199 16,673
Other income (expense), net (4,674) (7,295) (1,995)
Earnings before income taxes, minority
interests and accounting change 32,786 65,320 76,551

Income taxes (18,826) (26,651) (31,233)
Net earnings or losses of consolidated 

subsidiaries applicable to minority interests (117) 644 112
Earnings from equity investments 2,147 995 –
Earnings before cumulative effect 
of accounting change 15,990 40,308 45,430

Cumulative effect of accounting change – (3,368) –
Net earnings $15,990 $36,940 $45,430

Basic earnings (loss) per common share:
Earnings before accounting change $1.16 $2.91 $3.26
Accounting change – (0.24) –

Net earnings $1.16 $2.67 $3.26

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:
Earnings before accounting change $1.15 $2.88 $3.24
Accounting change – (0.24) –

Net earnings $1.15 $2.64 $3.24

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 13,721 13,843 13,910
Diluted 13,844 13,988 14,008

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

H.B. Fuller Company and Subsidiaries
(In thousands, except share amounts)
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Consolidated 
Balance Sheets

November 28, November 29,
1998 1997

Assets
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $4,605 $2,710
Trade receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts

of $5,073 in 1998 and $5,879 in 1997 242,879 205,590
Inventories 158,606 150,685
Other current assets 51,810 50,171

Total current assets 457,900 409,156
Net property, plant and equipment 414,467 398,561
Deposits and miscellaneous assets 70,673 62,196
Other intangibles, less accumulated amortization 

of $16,405 in 1998 and $14,066 in 1997 34,717 13,830
Excess of cost over net assets acquired, less accumulated 

amortization of $15,892 in 1998 and $15,599 in 1997 68,412 33,903
Total assets $1,046,169 $917,646
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:

Notes payable $59,282 $39,675
Current installments of long-term debt 4,428 2,551
Accounts payable - trade 129,694 121,883
Accrued payroll and employee benefits 34,780 36,151
Other accrued expenses 36,945 32,802
Accrued non-recurring charges 13,215 –
Income taxes 6,816 4,487

Total current liabilities 285,160 237,549
Long-term debt, excluding current installments 300,074 229,996
Accrued pensions 83,500 76,694
Other liabilities 19,833 18,477
Minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries 16,198 15,816
Stockholders’ Equity:

Series A preferred stock 306 306
Common stock 13,983 13,841
Additional paid-in capital 31,140 25,035
Retained earnings 309,275 304,974
Foreign currency translation adjustment (5,306) 341
Unearned compensation - restricted stock (7,994) (5,383)

Total stockholders’ equity 341,404 339,114
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $1,046,169 $917,646

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

H.B. Fuller Company and Subsidiaries
(In thousands)
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FISCAL YEARS 1998, 1997 AND 1996
Unearned

Foreign Compen-
Additional Currency sation

Preferred Common Paid-in Retained Translation Restricted
Stock Stock Capital Earnings Adjustment Stock

Balances at November 30, 1995 $306 $14,007 $20,771 $256,489 $11,319 $(3,478)

Stock compensation plans, net – 59 1,722 – – (572)
Net earnings – change in non-

U.S. year-end* – – – 118 – –
Net earnings – 1996 – – – 45,430 – –
Dividends paid – – – (9,209) – –
Changes in foreign currency translation:

Translation gain adjustment included in
net earnings due to substantial 
liquidation of non-U.S. assets – – – – 208 –

Other – – – – (2,430) –
Balances at November 30, 1996 306 14,066 22,493 292,828 9,097 (4,050)

Stock compensation plans, net – 76 3,039 – – (1,333)
Retirement of common stock – (301) (497) (14,726) – –
Net earnings – 1997 – – – 36,940 – –
Dividends paid – – – (10,068) – –
Changes in foreign currency translation:

Translation gain adjustment included in 
net earnings due to substantial 
liquidation of non-U.S. assets – – – – 97 –

Other – – – – (8,853) –
Balances at November 29, 1997 306 13,841 25,035 304,974 341 (5,383)

Stock compensation plans, net – 143 6,108 – – (2,611)
Excess of additional pension liability

over unrecognized prior service cost – – – (691) – –
Retirement of common stock – (1) (3) (51) – –
Net earnings – 1998 – – – 15,990 – –
Dividends paid – – – (10,947) – –
Changes in foreign currency translation:

Translation gain adjustment included in 
net earnings due to substantial 
liquidation of non-U.S. assets – – – – 123 –

Other – – – – (5,770) –
Balances at November 28, 1998 $306 $13,983 $31,140 $309,275 $(5,306) $(7,994)

* See Consolidated Financial Statements Note 1, Change in Year-end.

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

H.B. Fuller Company and Subsidiaries
(In thousands)

Consolidated 
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
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Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows

Fiscal Year Ended
November 28, November 29, November 30,

1998 1997 1996*
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net earnings $15,990 $36,940 $45,430
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net 

cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 49,541 46,773 46,992
Pension costs 6,900 9,854 13,132
Non-recurring charges 16,043 – –
Gain on sale of businesses in the restructuring plan (8,981) – –
Gain on sale of assets (3,237) (5,199) (16,673)
Other items (6,483) (6,001) 4,324
Change in current assets and liabilities

(net of effect of acquisitions/divestitures):
Accounts receivable (27,120) (24,105) (28,781)
Inventory (4,473) (2,485) 7,727
Other current assets (79) (6,507) (929)
Accounts payable 646 8,224 5,138
Accrued non-recurring charges 13,215 – –
Accrued expense (2,780) 13,711 3,466
Income taxes payable 2,790 (2,624) 1,435

Net cash provided by operating activities 51,972 68,581 81,261
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchased property, plant and equipment (62,327) (69,224) (89,847)
Proceeds from sale of assets 9,019 14,382 29,194
Purchased businesses, net of cash acquired (92,439) (9,618) (8,120)

Net cash used in investing activities (145,747) (64,460) (68,773)
Cash flows from financing activities:

New long-term debt 255,138 68,255 62,643
Long-term debt paid (161,636) (10,348) (58,504)
Notes payable 18,461 (4,035) (5,237)
Dividends paid (10,947) (10,068) (9,209)
Repurchase common stock (56) (15,524) –
Fund pension and other employee benefit plans (3,720) (25,741) (8,227)
Other (1,759) (6,999) 662

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 95,481 (4,460) (17,872)
Effect of exchange rate changes 189 (466) (162)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1,895 (805) (5,546)
Cash at beginning of year and cash equivalents 2,710 3,515 9,061
Cash at end of year and cash equivalents $4,605 $2,710 $3,515

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $24,277 $20,358 $21,901
Cash paid for income taxes $15,224 $33,996 $36,599

* Includes the fifty-two weeks ended November 30, 1996 for all entities and the two-month stub period for non-U.S. entities. See Consolidated
Financial Statements Note 1, Change in Year-end.

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

H.B. Fuller Company and Subsidiaries
(In thousands)
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1/Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies
The following information is presented to explain the accounting
policies used to prepare H.B. Fuller Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Nature of Operations: H.B. Fuller Company (“The Company”)
operates as one of the world’s leading manufacturers and
marketers of adhesives, sealants, coatings, paints and other
specialty chemical products. The Company has operations in 42
countries in North America, Europe, Latin America and the
Asia/Pacific region. The Company’s largest business category is
specialty chemicals and related products (adhesives, sealants and
coatings). These products, in thousands of formulations, are sold
to customers in a wide range of industries, including packaging,
woodworking, automotive, aerospace, graphic arts (books/
magazines), appliances, filtration, windows, sporting goods,
nonwovens, shoes and ceramic tile. The Company generally
markets its products through a direct sales force and independent
distributors in some markets.

Principles of Consolidation: The Consolidated Financial
Statements include the accounts of the Company and all
subsidiaries. Beginning with 1996, the Company’s fiscal year ends
on the Saturday closest to November 30th. All significant inter-
company items have been eliminated in consolidation.

Change in Year-end: Effective December 1, 1995, in the first
quarter of the Company’s 1996 fiscal year, the Company’s non-
U.S. subsidiaries that previously reported on a fiscal year ending
September 30, changed their reporting period to a Companywide
52-week fiscal year ending on the Saturday closest to November
30. This change was made to reflect the results of operations and
financial position of these subsidiaries on a more timely basis and
to increase operating and planning efficiency. The results of
operations of these subsidiaries for the period October 1 through
November 30, 1995, income of $118 or $0.01 per share (basic),
have been reflected as an adjustment to retained earnings. Sales
for the period were $104,811 and cost of sales was $73,341. The
Company also changed to thirteen-week quarters. The three fiscal
years ended November 28, 1998 represent 52-week years,
respectively.

Use of Estimates: Generally accepted accounting principles
require management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Foreign Currency Translation: The financial statements of
non-U.S. operations are translated into U.S. dollars for inclusion in
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Translation gains or losses resulting from the process of translating
foreign currency financial statements are reported as a separate
component of stockholders’ equity for businesses not considered
to be operating in highly inflationary economies. Translation effect
of subsidiaries operating in highly inflationary economies and
subsidiaries using the dollar as the functional currency are included
in determining net earnings. 

Transaction losses included in determining earnings before income
taxes and minority interests were as follows:

1998 1997 1996
Currency translation

gains, net $837 $216 $2,182

Flow-through
effect of inventory
valuation, net (2,370) (1,479) (246)

(1,533) (1,263) 1,936
Currency exchange

losses, net (2,961) (2,739) (3,090)
Total $(4,494) $(4,002) $(1,154)

The net loss from the flow-through effects of inventory valuation
results from differences between translation of cost of sales at
historic rates versus average exchange rates. H.B. Fuller
Company’s Latin American operations, whenever possible, raise
local selling prices on their products to offset this loss. The result
of these efforts to keep pace with inflation appears in the sales
revenue of each operation.

Cash: The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments
purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.

Inventories: Inventories in the United States, representing
approximately 39% of consolidated inventories, are recorded at
cost (not in excess of market value) as determined primarily by the
last-in, first-out method (LIFO). Inventories of non-U.S. operations
are valued at the lower of cost (mainly average cost) or market.
Inventories at year-end are summarized as follows:

1998 1997
Raw materials $73,126 $71,234
Finished goods 95,862 90,634
LIFO reserve (10,382) (11,183)
Total $158,606 $150,685

H.B. Fuller Company and Subsidiaries
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements
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Property, Plant and Equipment: The major classes are:

Depreciable
Lives

(in years) 1998 1997
Land $56,737 $49,400
Buildings and 

improvements 20-40 226,174 204,782
Machinery and 

equipment 5-15 433,407 374,747
Construction in 

progress 41,663 68,988
Total, at cost 757,981 697,917
Accumulated

depreciation (343,514) (299,356)
Net property, plant 

and equipment $414,467 $398,561

Depreciation is generally computed on a straight-line basis over the
useful lives, noted above, of the assets, including assets acquired
by capital leases. Accelerated depreciation is used for income tax
purposes where permitted.

Amortization: Other intangible assets, primarily technology,
are amortized over the estimated lives of 3 to 15 years. The
excess of cost over net assets of businesses acquired is charged
against earnings over periods of 15 to 25 years. The
recoverability of unamortized intangible assets is assessed on an
ongoing basis by comparing anticipated undiscounted future
cash flows from operations to net book value.

Capitalized Interest Costs: Interest costs associated with
major construction of property and equipment are capitalized.
Interest expense for each year includes the following components:

1998 1997 1996
Interest costs 

incurred $27,811 $21,081 $21,399
Capitalized 

interest costs (822) (1,245) (2,518)
Interest expense $26,989 $19,836 $18,881

Non-U.S. Operations: Net earnings and equity of non-U.S.
operations for each year are:

1998 1997 1996
Net earnings $(5,854) $8,571 $1,984
Equity $190,880 $174,220 $147,439

Financial Instruments: The Company generally enters into
forward foreign currency exchange contracts to hedge certain
foreign currency denominated intercompany receivables, payables
and debt. Gains and losses on forward foreign currency exchange
contracts qualifying for hedges of firm commitment foreign
currency intercompany receivables, payables or debt are
recognized as the contract is adjusted to fair market value while
the resulting credit or debit offsets foreign exchange gains or
losses on the hedged receivable, payable or debt amount.

Changes in the fair value of contracts not qualifying for hedge
accounting are recognized in other income (expense).

At November 28, 1998 and November 29, 1997, the Company
had outstanding forward foreign currency exchange contracts
accounted for as hedges aggregating $17,097 and $12,075,
respectively. Forward foreign currency exchange contacts
mature between December 31, 1998 and November 20, 2000
and relate primarily to major Western European currencies.
Counterparties to the forward foreign currency exchange
contracts are major financial institutions. Credit loss from
counterparty nonperformance is not anticipated.

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the
Company’s significant other financial instruments at year-end are
as follows:

Carrying Fair
Amount Value

1998:
Cash and cash equivalents $4,605 $4,605
Notes payable $59,282 $59,282
Long-term debt $304,502 $314,613

1997:
Cash and cash equivalents $2,710 $2,710
Notes payable $39,675 $39,675
Long-term debt $232,547 $242,741

Fair values of short-term financial instruments approximate their
carrying values due to their short maturity.

The fair value of long-term debt is based on quoted market
prices for the same or similar issues or on the current rates
offered to the Company for debt of similar maturities. The
estimates presented above on long-term financial instruments
are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that would be
realized in a current market exchange.
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Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade accounts
receivable are limited due to the large number of entities
comprising the Company’s customer base and their dispersion
across many different industries and countries. As of November
28, 1998 and November 29, 1997, the Company had no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Environmental Costs: Environmental expenditures that
relate to current operations are expensed or capitalized as
appropriate. Expenditures that relate to an existing condition
caused by past operations, and which do not contribute to
current or future revenue generation, are expensed. Liabilities are
recorded when environmental assessments are made or
remedial efforts are probable and the costs can be reasonably
estimated. The timing of these accruals is generally no later than
the completion of feasibility studies. The liabilities for
environmental costs at November 28, 1998 and November 29,
1997 were $4,312 and $4,288, respectively. For further
information on environmental matters, see Item 3 of the
Company’s 1998 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Income Taxes: The Company uses the asset and liability
method of accounting for income taxes. Under the asset and
liability method, deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax
consequences of temporary differences by applying enacted
statutory tax rates applicable to future years to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax
basis of existing assets and liabilities. The effect on deferred
taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date.

Other Postretirement Benefits: The Company provides
medical benefits for eligible retired employees, employee’s
beneficiaries and covered dependents. These costs are accrued
during the years the employee renders the necessary service.

Postemployment Benefits: The Company provides
postemployment benefits to inactive and former employees,
employee’s beneficiaries and covered dependents after
employment, but prior to retirement. The cost of providing these
benefits is accrued during the years the employee renders the
necessary service. 

Accounting Change: In 1997, an accounting change
impacted fourth quarter earnings by $3,368, or $0.24 per share
(basic), net of $2,321 income taxes. The Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) on
Issue No. 97-13, “Accounting for Costs Incurred in Connection
with a Consulting Contract or an Internal Project That Combines

Business Process Reengineering and Information Technology
Transformation,” issued November 20, 1997, required the
Company to expense some costs that were previously
capitalizable before this pronouncement.

Earnings Per Common Share: In February 1997, the FASB
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No.
128, “Earnings Per Share”. SFAS No. 128  is effective for financial
statements for periods ending after December 15, 1997. Under
SFAS No. 128, the previous presentation of earnings per share is
replaced with dual presentation of basic earnings per share and
diluted earnings per share. Basic earnings per share includes no
dilution and is computed by dividing net earnings available to
common shareholders by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per
share reflects the potential dilution of stock options and restricted
stock grants that could share in the earnings. The Company
adopted SFAS No. 128 in fiscal year 1998 and has restated prior
years net earnings per share data presented to conform to the
provisions of this statement. The difference between basic and
diluted earnings per share data as presented is due to the dilutive
impact of stock options and restricted stock grants whose
exercise price or grant price was below the average common
stock price for the respective period presented. Earnings used in
the calculation are reduced by the dividends paid to the preferred
stockholder.

Purchase of Company Common Stock: Under the
Minnesota Business Corporation Act, repurchased stock is
included in the authorized shares of the Company, but is not
included in shares outstanding. The excess of cost over par value
is charged proportionally to the Additional Paid-In Capital and to
the Retained Earnings. During 1996 the Board of Directors
authorized a stock repurchase program under which up to
300,000 shares of H.B. Fuller Company common stock could be
repurchased by the Company. The shares of common stock
repurchased would be available for compensation plans of the
Company. During 1997 the Company repurchased 300,000
shares of common stock.

New Accounting Standards: In June 1997, the FASB
issued SFAS No. 130 “Reporting Comprehensive Income.” This
statement, which is required to be adopted for financial
statements issued for annual periods beginning after December
15, 1997, establishes standards for reporting and display of
comprehensive income and its components in a full set of
general-purpose financial statements. At that time, the Company
will be required to report total comprehensive income, an amount
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that will include net income as well as other comprehensive
income. Other comprehensive income refers to revenues,
expenses, gains and losses that under generally accepted
accounting principles have previously been reported as separate
components of equity in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. The Company will implement this statement in fiscal
year 1999 as required.

In June 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 131 “Disclosures about
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.” This
statement, which is required to be adopted for financial
statements issued for annual periods beginning after December
15, 1997, establishes standards for the way that public business
enterprises report information about operating segments in
financial reports issued to shareholders. The Company will
implement this statement in fiscal year 1999 as required.

In February 1998, FASB issued SFAS No. 132 “Employers
Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits.”
This statement, which is required for years beginning after
December 15, 1997 revises employer’s disclosures about
pensions and other postretirement benefit plans. The Company
will implement this statement in fiscal year 1999.

In June 1998, the FASB issued SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” This statement,
which is required to be adopted for annual periods beginning after
June 15, 1999, establishes standards for recognition and
measurement of derivatives and hedging activities. The Company
will implement this statement in fiscal year 2000 as required.

The impact of adopting the aforementioned accounting standards
is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s financial
position or results of operations.

Reclassification: Certain prior years’ amounts have been
reclassified to conform to the 1998 presentation.

2/Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income (expense), net in 1998 included $2,490 in
consulting costs and costs associated with the change of the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer which was partially offset by a
$1,221 increase in investment income. Other income (expense),
net in 1997 included $4,349 in costs associated with an
acquisition pursued but not consummated and consulting costs.
Other income (expense), net in 1996 included a $1,496 gain on
the sale of equity investments. All years include foreign currency
losses. (See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)

3/Non-recurring Charges
In the third quarter of 1998, the Company's Board of Directors
approved and the Company announced a restructuring plan that
will streamline the organizational structure worldwide. Over the
last two quarters of 1998 and continuing into 1999, twelve
adhesive manufacturing facilities will be closed, primarily in
Europe, Latin America and Asia/Pacific, sales offices and
warehouses will be consolidated and layers of management
reduced. This plan anticipated a non-recurring charge of
$40,000 to $45,000 (before tax) over six quarters, a reduction of
employee census of more than 600 (including 142 of actual
employee reductions in 1998) and a reduction of costs in excess
of $30,000 (before tax) annually, when completed. Cash
requirements of this plan are estimated to be $29,000 to
$30,000 and will primarily be expended in fiscal year 1999. As a
result of selling two business units in the fourth quarter of 1998,
the total amount of the charge is now estimated to be from
$35,000 to $40,000 (before tax) with approximately $8,000 to
$13,000 to be incurred in 1999. The cash requirements are now
estimated to be $24,000 to $25,000. The Company has
adequate lines of credit to fund these payments.

Reorganization and restructuring costs include costs directly
related to the Company's plan of reorganization. EITF No. 94-3
provides specific requirements as to the appropriate recognition
of costs associated with employee termination benefits and
other exit costs.

Employee termination costs are recognized when benefit
arrangements are communicated to affected employees in
sufficient detail to enable the employees to determine the
amount of benefits to be received upon termination.

Other exit costs resulting from an exit plan that are not
associated with or that do not benefit activities that will be
continued are recognized at the date of commitment to an exit
plan subject to certain conditions. For the cost to be accrued,
the cost must not be associated with or incurred to generate
revenues after the commitment date, and it must be either i)
incremental to other costs incurred prior to the commitment
date, or ii) represent amounts under a contractual obligation that
existed prior to the commitment date that will either continue
after the exit plan is completed with no economic benefit or
which will result in a penalty to cancel the obligation.

Other costs directly related to the reorganization of the
Company which are not eligible for recognition at the
commitment date, such as relocation and other integration
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costs, are expensed as incurred.

The Company, as a result of the restructuring/reorganization
plan, identified certain property, plant and equipment, primarily
consisting of land, machinery and equipment and capitalized
software costs, to be impaired. An impairment was recognized
when the future undiscounted cash flows of each asset was
estimated to be insufficient to recover its related carrying value.
As such, the carrying values of these assets were written down
to the Company’s estimates of fair value. Fair value was based
on sales of similar assets, or other estimates of fair value such as
discounting estimated future cash flows. Most of the assets
impaired as a result of the restructuring continue to be held and
used until the facilities are closed in 1999. Net losses from
operations affected by the restructuring, which will be closed in
1999, totaled $800, excluding non-recurring charges, for the
year ended November 28, 1998. 

During 1998, the Company recorded the following amounts in
the income statement in connection with the restructuring plan:

North Latin Asia/
America Europe America Pacific Total

Severance
(net of pension
curtailment) $3,945 $8,526 $3,704 $278 $16,453

Impairment of 
property, plant 
and equipment 9,481 4,063 3,564 – 17,108

Contracts/leases 526 266 – 53 845
Consulting 121 764 12 2 899
Other 193 – 126 104 423
Subtotal 14,266 13,619 7,406 437 35,728
Less: Gain on the 

sale of businesses (1,387) (7,594) – – (8,981)
Total $12,879 $6,025 $7,406 $437 $26,747

Included in the $35,700 restructuring charge are $19,700 of cash
costs and $16,000 in non-cash related costs.

North American charges relate to an announced manufacturing
plant closing in the first quarter of 1999, reduced layers of
management and the impairment recognized on property, plant
and equipment, including machinery and previously capitalized
software costs, due to the reassessment of system benefits as a
result of the restructuring. These costs were partially offset by a gain
on  the sale of the glue gun and stick business in the fourth quarter
of 1998. Latin American charges relate to announced closing of five
manufacturing plants (three in the first quarter and the remaining

two during the balance of 1999), including the impairment of
property, plant and equipment and severance associated with the
reduction in layers of management. The Europe charges relate to
announced plant closings in two countries (one in the first quarter
and one in the second quarter of 1999), including the impairment
of property, plant and equipment and severance associated with
the reduction in layers of management. These costs were partially
offset by a gain on the sale of the wax business in the fourth quarter
of 1998. In Asia/Pacific, one manufacturing plant was closed in the
fourth quarter of 1998, sales offices and warehouses were closed,
the area office will be relocated and layers of management are
being reduced.

Revenues and net operating earnings related to the businesses
sold during the fourth quarter of 1998 were approximately
$11,000 and $600, respectively, for the year ended November
28, 1998.

The following table is a detailed reconciliation of the restructuring
reserve balance from November 29, 1997 to November 28, 1998.
The reconciliation reflects the accruals recorded and payments
applied during the year.

Non-recurring charge reserve:

North Latin Asia/
America Europe America Pacific Total

Balance
November 29,
1997 $    – $     – $      – $   – $ –

Accruals in 1998:
Severance 4,749 8,726 3,765 278 17,518
Contracts/leases 526 266 – 53 845
Consulting 121 764 12 2 899
Other 193 – 126 104 423

Payments in 1998:
Severance (2,757) (998) (624) (190) (4,569)
Contracts/leases (526) – – (53) (579)
Consulting (121) (764) (12) (2) (899)
Other (193) – (126) (104) (423)

Balance
November 28, 1998 $1,992 $7,994 $3,141 $88 $13,215

4/Acquisitions
In 1998 the Company purchased a business and certain assets of
two businesses for $92,439 cash. In 1997 the Company and EMS-
Chemie Holding AG formed an automotive adhesives, sealants and
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coatings joint venture called EFTEC. In connection with the
formation of the joint venture, the Company purchased 30% of the
European and 38% of the Asia/Pacific EMS-Chemie automotive
business. EMS-Chemie holds a 30% and 38% minority interest in
the North American and Latin American automotive business,
respectively. In 1997 the Company also purchased the assets of
another business, with a total cash outlay in 1997 of $9,618. In
1996 the Company purchased certain assets of a business for
$8,120 cash. 

The fair values of assets and liabilities acquired at the dates of their
respective acquisition are shown below as supplemental disclosure
for cash flow purposes.

1998 1997 1996
Cash $412 $ – $       –
Receivables 15,848 – –
Inventories 6,971 605 3,849
Other current assets 829 – –
Property, plant and

equipment 20,249 327 6
Miscellaneous assets – 9,610 –
Other intangibles 21,728 – 4,194
Excess cost 43,754 1,068 71
Current liabilities (17,352) (1,992) –
Net assets acquired $92,439 $9,618 $8,120

The acquisitions were accounted for as purchases and the
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the
results of these businesses since the purchase date. The historical
results of operations on a pro forma basis are not presented as the
effects of the acquisitions were not material.

5/Divestitures
The Company sold its glue gun and stick product line in North
America, wax product line in Europe, and powder coatings in New
Zealand for $18,000 cash in 1998. The Company sold its
construction product line in Europe for $1,117 cash in 1997. It sold
two product lines, including epoxy tooling slabs and Monarch
sanitation chemicals, for $27,468 in 1996. The 1998 sales of the
glue gun and stick product line and the wax product line, with
gains of $8,981, are part of the restructuring charges described in
Note 3. The sales, along with gains on the sale of assets, resulted
in before tax gains of $3,237, $5,199 and $16,673, in 1998, 1997
and 1996, respectively.

6/Research and Development
Expenses
Research and development expenses charged against earnings
were $22,255, $24,830 and $25,823 in 1998, 1997 and 1996,
respectively.

7/Income Taxes
Earnings before income taxes, minority interests and cumulative
effect of accounting changes for each year is as follows:

1998 1997 1996
United States (U.S.) $29,549 $49,081 $66,403
Outside U.S. 3,237 16,239 10,148
Total $32,786 $65,320 $76,551

The components of the provision for income taxes excluding
cumulative effect of accounting changes are:

1998 1997 1996
Current:

U.S. federal $5,971 $16,769 $23,225
State 1,198 1,706 3,555
Outside U.S. 10,201 5,705 6,487

17,370 24,180 33,267
Deferred:

U.S. federal 1,179 498 (2,453)
State (74) 195 (82)
Outside U.S. 351 1,778 501

1,456 2,471 (2,034)
Total $18,826 $26,651 $31,233
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The difference between the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate
and the Company’s effective income tax rate is explained below:

1998 1997 1996
Statutory U.S. federal

income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes 2.4 1.7 3.0
U.S. federal income taxes on

dividends received from
non-U.S. subsidiaries, before
foreign tax credits 6.8 5.2 3.6

Foreign tax credits (1.9) (1.7) (3.3)
Non-U.S. taxes 23.9 1.3 3.1
Life insurance (2.2) (0.8) –
Other credits (6.8) (2.7) (1.6)
Other 0.2 2.8 1.0
Total 57.4% 40.8% 40.8%

The effective tax rate in 1998 was impacted by costs related to
the Company’s restructuring plan. Some of these restructuring
costs do not provide a foreign tax benefit in certain foreign
countries resulting in an increase in the effective tax rate
associated with non-U.S. taxes.

Deferred income tax balances at each year-end were:

1998 1997
Deferred tax assets $70,845 $65,205
Valuation allowance (5,097) (4,330)
Deferred tax assets net of

valuation allowance 65,748 60,875
Deferred tax liabilities (53,637) (49,964)
Net deferred tax assets $12,111 $10,911

Deferred income tax balances at each year-end were related to:

1998 1997
Depreciation $(23,577) $(21,463)
Pension 17,957 17,613
Deferred compensation 5,168 4,895
Postretirement medical benefits 6,653 7,088
Tax loss carryforwards 11,377 11,049
Non-recurring charges 2,067 –
Inventory 711 644
Provisions for expenses (7,287) (6,405)
Difference between assigned

value and tax basis of
acquisition (1,488) (1,484)

Currency gains/losses 1,326 1,186
Other 4,301 2,118

17,208 15,241
Valuation allowance (5,097) (4,330)
Net deferred tax assets $12,111 $10,911

U.S. income taxes have not been provided on approximately
$48,813 of undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries. The
Company plans to reinvest these undistributed earnings. If any
portion were to be distributed, the related U.S. tax liability may be
reduced by foreign income taxes paid on those earnings plus any
available foreign tax credit carryforwards. Determination of the
unrecognized deferred tax liability related to these undistributed
earnings is not practicable.

While non-U.S. operations of the Company, excluding the non-
recurring charge in 1998, have been profitable overall, cumulative
losses of $32,154 are carried as net operating losses in 21
different countries. These losses can be carried forward to offset
income tax liability on future income in those countries. Cumulative
losses of $15,607 can be carried forward indefinitely, while the
remaining $16,547 must be used during the 1999-2004 period.

8/Notes Payable
The primary component of notes payable relates to the
Company’s short-term lines of credit with banks. This component
totals $48,162. The amount of unused available borrowings
under these lines at November 28, 1998 was $50,863.

The weighted average interest rates on short-term borrowings
were 9.0%, 9.4% and 7.7% in 1998, 1997 and 1996,
respectively.



H.B. Fuller 1998 Annual Report42

The most restrictive debt agreements place limitations on
secured and unsecured borrowings, operating leases, and
contain minimum interest coverage, current assets and net
worth requirements. In addition, the Company cannot be a
member of any “consolidated group” for income tax purposes
other than with its subsidiaries. At November 28, 1998 the
Company exceeded minimum requirements for all financial
covenants.

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt, including obligations
under capital leases, amount to $4,428, $15,177, $1,730,
$34,360 and $776 during the five fiscal years 1999 through 2003.

9/Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt, including obligations under capital leases, is summarized as follows:

Interest
Rate Range Maturity 1998 1997

U.S. dollar obligations:
Notes (a) $21,921 $98,740
Senior notes - A, B, C, D 8.49-8.73% 2001-2010 65,000 65,000
Senior note - B 10.32 1998 25,000 25,000
Senior notes 6.60 2008-2012 125,000 –
Industrial and commercial development bonds 4.00-7.75 2004-2016 7,100 7,100
Various other obligations 5.00-7.61 1999-2005 6,500 8,212

250,521 204,052
Foreign currency obligations:

Deutche mark note (a) 3,503 3,230
Pound sterling notes (a) 31,488 –
Japanese yen note (a) 1,788 –
New Zealand dollar – 2,902
Australian dollar 6.73 2000 4,433 8,159
Italian lira 10.81 2000 4,078 3,599
Honduran lempira 28.00 1999-2001 439 664
Costa Rican colones 21.30-24.50 1999-2000 308 689
Japanese yen 2.00-4.20 2003-2005 5,204 6,176
Various other obligations 18.00-42.20 1999-2001 995 1,169

52,236 26,588
Capital leases 2002 1,745 1,907
Total long-term debt 304,502 232,547
Less: current installments (4,428) (2,551)
Total $300,074 $229,996
(a) The Company has revolving credit agreements with a group of major banks which provide committed long-term lines of credit of $158,000 through

December 20, 2004. At the Company’s option, interest is payable at the London Interbank Offered Rate plus 0.175%-0.375%, adjusted quarterly
based on the Company’s capitalization ratio, or a bid rate. A facility fee of 0.075%-0.175% is payable quarterly.
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10/Lease Commitments
Assets under capital leases are summarized as follows:

1998 1997
Land $2,194 $2,824
Buildings and improvements 4,776 5,365

6,970 8,189
Accumulated depreciation (3,817) (2,512)
Net assets under capital leases $3,153 $5,677

The following are the minimum lease payments that will have to
be made in each of the years indicated based on capital and
operating leases in effect as of November 28, 1998:

Capital Operating
Fiscal year:

1999 $833 $8,157
2000 489 5,412
2001 431 4,216
2002 187 2,203
2003 – 2,111
Later years – 3,158

Total minimum 
lease payments $1,940 $25,257

Amount representing interest (195)
Present value of minimum 

lease payments $1,745

Rental expense for all operating leases charged against earnings
amounted to $14,818, $14,166, and $13,385 in 1998, 1997 and
1996, respectively.

11/Contingencies
Legal: The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to various
lawsuits and governmental proceedings. For further information on
certain legal proceedings, see Item 3 of the Company’s 1998
Annual Report on Form 10-K. In particular, the Company is
currently deemed a potentially responsible party (PRP) or
defendant, generally in conjunction with numerous other parties, in
a number of government enforcement and private actions
associated with hazardous waste sites. As a PRP or defendant, the
Company may be required to pay a share of the costs of
investigation and cleanup of these sites. In some cases the
Company may have rights of indemnification from other parties.
The Company’s liability in the future for such claims is difficult to
predict because of the uncertainty as to the cost of the investigation

and cleanup of the sites, the Company’s responsibility for such
hazardous waste and the number or financial condition of other
PRPs or defendants. As is the case with other types of litigation and
proceedings to which the Company is a party, based upon
currently available information, it is the Company’s opinion that
none of these matters will result in material liability to the Company.

12/Retirement Plans
The Company has noncontributory defined benefit plans covering
all U.S. employees. Benefits for the plans are based primarily on
years of service and employees’ average compensation during
their five highest out of the last ten years of service. The Company’s
funding policy is consistent with the funding requirements of federal
law and regulations. Plan assets consist principally of listed equity
securities and an Immediate Participation Guarantee contract with
an insurance company.

Certain non-U.S. consolidated subsidiaries provide pension
benefits for their employees consistent with local practices and
regulations. Most of these plans are noncontributory, unfunded,
defined benefit plans covering substantially all employees upon
completion of a specified period of service. Benefits for the plans
are generally based on years of service and annual compensation.
The plans historically have been unfunded book reserved plans, but
in 1997 the Company partially funded the German plan. Related
pension obligations are provided through accrued pension costs. 
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Pension cost consists of the following:

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
1998 1997 1996 1998 1997 1996

Service cost-benefits earned during the period $5,629 $4,633 $5,440 $1,692 $1,849 $2,586
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 11,795 11,048 10,026 3,559 3,482 5,087
Return on plan assets – actual (3,044) (50,212) (11,607) (4,457) (788) (690)

– deferred (11,792) 38,707 1,096 2,836 275 373
Amortization of transition (asset) liability (27) (27) (27) 70 72 107
All other cost (benefit) components (710) 339 772 70 69 104
Net pension cost $1,851 $4,488 $5,700 $3,770 $4,959 $7,567

The funded status of the plans and the amount recognized on the balance sheet at each year-end are:

Non-U.S. Plans

U.S. Plans Assets Exceed ABO ABO Exceeds Assets
1998 1997 1998 1997 1998 1997

Actuarial present value of benefit obligations:
– vested benefits $(132,800) $(111,644) $(3,984) $(4,155) $(43,977) $(40,251)
– non-vested benefits (5,054) (3,576) (313) (3) (218) (760)

Accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) (137,854) (115,220) (4,297) (4,158) (44,195) (41,011)
Effect of projected future

compensation increases (36,377) (38,911) (692) (678) (5,580) (5,639)
Projected benefit obligation (174,231) (154,131) (4,989) (4,836) (49,775) (46,650)
Plan assets at fair value 184,407 186,911 6,173 6,111 18,859 14,270
Plan assets in excess of (less than)

projected benefit obligation 10,176 32,780 1,184 1,275 (30,916) (32,380)
Unrecognized prior service cost 5,712 5,239 58 62 (22) (41)
Unrecognized transition (asset) liability (151) (178) (82) (85) 1,145 1,202
Unrecognized net (gain) loss (56,620) (74,299) 5 (65) (5,773) (1,418)
(Accrued) prepaid pension costs $(40,883) $(36,458) $1,165 $1,187 $(35,566) $(32,637)

Assumptions used:
U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

1998 1997 1996 1998 1997 1996
Weighted average discount rate 6.75%(1) 7.5%(1) 8.0%(1) 6.25-8.0% 6.5-8.0% 7.0-8.0%

7.5%(2) 8.0%(2) 7.25%(2)

Rate of increase in compensation levels 3.75-4.0%(1) 4.5%(1) 4.5%(1) 2.5-4.5% 2.5-4.5% 3.0-5.0%
4.5%(2) 4.5%(2) 4.5%(2)

Expected long-term rate of 
return on plan assets 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 8.0% 8.0% 8.0%

(1) August 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 assumptions used for funded status of U.S. plans.
(2) December 1, 1997, 1996 and 1995 assumptions used for U.S. plans pension cost. The impact of a one percent increase in the discount rate is

an approximate $1,400 decrease in annual pension cost. 

The charge to earnings relating to all plans was $8,062, $11,774 and $15,934 in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.
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13/Other Postretirement Benefits
The Company and certain of its consolidated subsidiaries provide
health care and life insurance benefits for eligible retired employees
and their eligible dependents. These benefits are provided through
various insurance companies and health care providers. 

The obligation for these benefits was determined by application
of the terms of health and life insurance plans, together with
relevant actuarial assumptions and health-care cost trend rates,
as of December 1, 1997, projected at annual rates ranging from
7.4 percent in 1998 graded down to 4.9 percent for the year
2002 and after. The benefit obligation discount rate at that time
was 7.5 percent.

The funded status of the plan was determined based on actuarial
assumptions and health-care trend rates, as of August 31, 1998,
projected at annual rates ranging from 6.6 percent in 1998
graded down to 4.3 percent for the year 2002 and after. The
benefit obligation discount rate at that time was 6.75 percent.

The effect of a one percent annual increase in the assumed
health-care cost trend rates would increase the accumulated
postretirement benefits obligation at August 31, 1998, by $5,604
and the aggregate of service and interest cost components of
net periodic postretirement benefit costs by $797.

The Company funds U.S. postretirement benefits through a
Voluntary Employees’ Beneficiaries Association Trust which was
established in 1991. The funds are invested primarily in common
stocks with an expected long-term rate of return of 8.5 percent.

The funded status of the plan at each year-end is as follows:

1998 1997
Actuarial present value of postretirement

benefit obligation:
Retirees $(17,168) $(15,474)
Active employees fully 

eligible for benefits (11,117) (10,306)
Other active employees (9,526) (8,419)
Accumulated postretirement

benefit obligation (37,811) (34,199)
Fair value of plan assets 49,233 45,891
Unrecognized prior service cost (1,899) (7,062)
Unrecognized net (gain) (5,170) (2,466)
Prepaid (accrued) unfunded 

postretirement benefit obligation $4,353 $2,164
Benefit obligation discount rate 6.75% 7.5%

The components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost are
as follows:

1998 1997 1996
Service cost-benefits

earned during the period $1,833 $1,740 $2,128
Interest cost on

accumulated benefit obligation 2,641 2,447 2,437
Return on assets – actual (3,478) (11,084) (1,643)

– deferred (433) 8,531 (421)
All other components (1,040) (878) (425)
Net periodic postretirement

benefit (income) cost $(477) $756 $2,076

14/Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock: The Board of Directors is authorized to
issue up to 10,000,000 additional shares of preferred stock that
may be issued in one or more series and with such stated value
and terms as may be determined by the Board of Directors.

Series A Preferred Stock: There were 45,900 Series A
preferred shares with a par value of $6.67 authorized and issued
at November 28, 1998 and November 29, 1997. The holder of
Series A preferred stock is entitled to cumulative dividends at the
rate of $0.33 per share per annum. Common stock dividends
may not be paid unless provision has been made for payment of
Series A preferred dividends. The Series A preferred stock has
multiple voting rights entitling the Series A preferred stockholder
to 80 votes per share. The terms of the Series A preferred stock
include the right of the Company to purchase the shares at
specified times and the right of the Company to redeem all
shares at par value if authorized by the shareholders.

Series B Preferred Stock: In connection with the adoption
of the shareholder rights plan (see below), the Board of Directors
authorized a new series of preferred stock (“Series B preferred
shares”) that would be exchanged for the Company’s existing
Series A preferred shares, if and at such time as the rights issued
pursuant to the shareholder rights plan become exercisable. The
Series B preferred shares have the same terms as the Series A
preferred shares, except that the voting rights of the Series B
preferred shares are increased proportionately according to the
number of shares issued upon the exercise or exchange of
rights. The Company entered into a Stock Exchange Agreement
dated July 18, 1996, with the holder of the Series A preferred
shares by which the Series B preferred shares would be
exchanged for all Series A preferred shares on the date the rights
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under the shareholder rights plan become exercisable. The
exchange of the Series A preferred shares for the new Series B
preferred shares is intended to preserve the holder’s voting
power, in the event any rights are exercised. No event has
occurred which would cause the exchange to be effected.

Common Stock: There were 40,000,000 par value $1.00
common shares authorized and 13,982,649 and 13,840,773
shares issued at November 28, 1998 and November 29, 1997,
respectively.

Shareholder Rights Plan: The Company has a shareholder
rights plan under which each holder of a share of common stock
also has one right to purchase one share of common stock for
$180. The rights are not presently exercisable. Upon the
occurrence of certain “flip-in” events, each right becomes
exercisable and then entitles its holder to purchase $180 worth
of common stock at one-half of its then market value. Upon
certain “flip-over” events, each right entitles its holder to
purchase $180 worth of stock of another party at one-half of its
then market value. One flip-in event is when a person or group
(an “acquiring person”) acquires 15 percent or more of the
Company’s outstanding common stock. Rights held by an
acquiring person or an adverse person are void. The Company
may redeem the rights for one cent per share, but the
redemption right expires upon the occurrence of a flip-in event.
In addition, at any time after a person or group acquires 15
percent or more of the Company’s outstanding common stock,
but less than 50 percent, the Board of Directors may, at its
option, exchange all or part of the rights (other than rights held
by the acquiring person) for shares of the Company’s common
stock at a rate of one share of common stock for every right. The
rights expire on July 30, 2006.

Directors’ Stock Plan: The Directors’ Stock Plan reserves
75,000 shares of common stock for allocation as payment of
retainer fees. Directors, who are not employees, can choose to
receive all or a portion of the payment of their retainer and
meeting fees in shares of Company common stock when they
leave the Board rather than cash payments each year. At
November 28, 1998, 33,334 shares remained available for future
allocation.

1998 Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan: The 1998
Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan reserves 200,000 shares of
common stock to offer nonemployee directors incentives to put
forth maximum efforts for the success of the Company’s business
and to afford nonemployee directors an opportunity to acquire a

proprietary interest in the Company. In 1998, 7,017 restricted
shares were awarded with a market value of $441 being charged
to expense over the vesting periods. At November 28, 1998,
192,983 shares remained available for future award.

1992 Stock Incentive Plan: Under the 1992 Stock
Incentive Plan a total of 900,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock are available for the granting of awards during a
period of up to ten years from April 16, 1992. The Stock
Incentive Plan permits the granting of (a) stock options; (b) stock
appreciation rights; (c) restricted stock and restricted stock units;
(d) performance awards; (e) dividend equivalents; and (f) other
awards valued in whole or in part by reference to or otherwise
based upon the Company’s stock.

A total of 64,755, 38,736 and 38,900 restricted shares of the
Company’s common stock were granted to certain employees in
1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. The market value of shares
awarded $3,734, $2,108 and $1,352 has been recorded as
unearned compensation – restricted stock in 1998, 1997 and
1996, respectively and is shown as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity. Unearned compensation is being
amortized to expense over the vesting periods and amounted to
$993, $548 and $473 in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.

A total of 19,900, 21,850 and 25,500 restricted share units of the
Company’s common stock were allocated to certain employees
in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. The market value of units
allocated of $1,104, $1,191 and $886 in 1998, 1997 and 1996,
respectively, is generally being charged to expense over the ten-
year vesting period. 

At November 28, 1998, 509,870 shares remained available for
future grants or allocations.

Stock-Based Compensation: In October 1995, the FASB
issued SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation.” As permitted by this Standard, the Company
will continue to measure compensation cost using the intrinsic
value-based method of accounting prescribed by the
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25. Since the
Company has not granted stock options after the effective date
of SFAS No. 123, there is no pro forma impact to disclose.

1987 Stock Option Plan: 110,991 options were out-
standing at November 28, 1998, under the Company’s 1987
non-qualified plan. Options are exercisable until April 27, 2000.
At November 28, 1998, no shares remained available for grants
under this plan.
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Information on stock options is shown in the following table:

Option Shares
Outstanding/
Exercisable Price Range

Balance at
November 30, 1995 230,162 $14.33-16.33

Exercised (17,918) 14.33-15.50
Cancelled (375) 14.33
Balance at

November 30, 1996 211,869 14.33-16.33
Exercised (29,079) 14.33
Balance at

November 29, 1997 182,790 14.33-16.33
Exercised (71,799) 14.33-16.33
Balance at

November 28, 1998 110,991 $14.33

15/Business Segment Information 
The Company is a manufacturer of specialty chemical products,
which includes the formulation, compounding and marketing of
adhesives, sealants, coatings, paints and other specialty
chemical products. The Company considers its manufacturing of
specialty chemical and related products to be its dominant
industry segment. This segment is served commonly by
corporate/regional service departments including manufacturing,
administration, research and development and marketing
services.

The segment uses many common raw materials which are either
petroleum-based or of a nonsynthetic nature. The segment is not
capital intensive and the manufacturing facilities and raw
materials are relatively interchangeable and are not, in general,
highly specialized.

Operating earnings are net sales less operating costs and
expenses pertaining to specific geographic areas.

A summary of Company operations by geographic areas for
each year is as follows:

Sales to
unaffiliated 
customers: 1998 1997 1996

North America $779,499 $772,104 $733,683
Europe 286,374 247,920 272,085
Latin America 197,577 192,530 184,208
Asia/Pacific 83,791 94,235 85,740
Total trade sales $1,347,241 $1,306,789 $1,275,716

Inter-company
sales: 1998 1997 1996

North America $12,558 $17,257 $14,379
Europe 3,673 4,098 2,432
Latin America 15,221 14,398 9,897
Asia/Pacific 33 111 51
Eliminations (31,485) (35,864) (26,759)
Total intercompany sales – – –

Net sales: 1998 1997 1996
North America $792,057 $789,361 $748,062
Europe 290,047 252,018 274,517
Latin America 212,798 206,928 194,105
Asia/Pacific 83,824 94,346 85,791
Eliminations (31,485) (35,864) (26,759)
Total net sales $1,347,241 $1,306,789 $1,275,716

Earnings: 1998 1997 1996
North America $43,628 $59,940 $57,485
Europe 11,602 11,112 11,864
Latin America 6,705 15,659 13,140
Asia/Pacific (723) 541 (1,735)
Operating earnings 61,212 87,252 80,754
Interest expense (26,989) (19,836) (18,881)
Gain on sale of assets 3,237 5,199 16,673
Other (expense) (4,674) (7,295) (1,995)
Earnings before income

taxes, minority interest
and accounting change $32,786 $65,320 $76,551
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Identifiable assets: 1998 1997 1996
North America $592,579 $554,569 $503,976
Europe 272,302 176,745 183,993
Latin America 150,867 150,138 135,031
Asia/Pacific 74,948 75,625 74,439
Eliminations (47,283) (41,247) (30,408)
General 

corporate assets 2,314 1,816 2,244
Total assets $1,045,727 $917,646 $869,275

16/Quarterly Data (unaudited)
Net sales: 1998 1997
First quarter $310,656 $304,091
Second quarter 341,970 328,872
Third quarter 333,518 323,460
Fourth quarter 361,097 350,366

Total year $1,347,241 $1,306,789

Gross profit: 1998 1997

First quarter $97,633 $94,728
Second quarter 108,693 105,473
Third quarter 103,095 102,760
Fourth quarter 112,450 109,993
Total year $421,871 $412,954

Operating earnings: 1998 1997
First quarter $15,437 $15,333
Second quarter 24,720 22,263
Third quarter (2,119)** 21,946
Fourth quarter 23,174 ** 27,710
Total year $61,212 $87,252

Net earnings: 1998 1997
First quarter $5,954 $5,821
Second quarter 11,261 11,111
Third quarter (10,263) 10,763
Fourth quarter 9,038 9,245*
Total year $15,990 $36,940*

Basic net earnings 
per share: 1998 1997

First quarter $0.44 $0.42
Second quarter 0.82 0.79
Third quarter (0.75)** 0.78
Fourth quarter 0.65 ** 0.68*
Total year $1.16 $2.67*

Diluted net earnings
per share 1998 1997

First quarter $0.43 $0.41
Second quarter 0.81 0.79
Third quarter (0.75)** 0.77
Fourth quarter 0.65 ** 0.67*
Total year $1.15 $2.64*

* Fourth quarter earnings were $12,613 before an accounting change
charge of $(3,368) or $(0.24) per share. Year-to-date earnings were
$40,308 or $2.91 per share (basic) or $2.88 per share (diluted) before
an accounting change charge of $(3,368) or $(0.24) per share.

**Non-recurring charges reduced third quarter operating income
$24,003, net earnings $18,689 or $1.36 per share and reduced fourth
quarter operating income $2,744, net earnings $2,595 or $0.19 per
share. (See Note 3 to Consolidated Financial Statements.)
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The management of H.B. Fuller Company is responsible for the
integrity, objectivity and accuracy of the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries. The accompanying financial
statements, including the notes, were prepared in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles appropriate in the
circumstances and include amounts based on the best
judgment of management.

Management is also responsible for maintaining a system of
internal accounting control to provide reasonable assurance that
established policies and procedures are followed, that the records
properly reflect all transactions of the Company and that assets
are safeguarded against material loss from unauthorized use or
disposition. Management believes that the Company’s accounting
controls provide reasonable assurance that errors or irregularities
that could be material to the financial statements are prevented or
would be detected within a timely period by employees in the
normal course of performing their assigned duties.

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of H.B. Fuller Company

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
and the related consolidated statements of earnings,
stockholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of H.B. Fuller Company
and its subsidiaries at November 28, 1998 and November 29,
1997, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended November 28, 1998,
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards which require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed
above.

As discussed in Note 1, in 1997 the Company changed its
accounting for certain information technology transformation costs
to conform with issue 97-13 of the Emerging Issues Task Force.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
January 8, 1999

Jorge Walter Bolaños
Senior Vice President, 
Chief Financial Officer and 
Treasurer 

Albert P.L. Stroucken
President and 
Chief Executive Officer

Management’s Report
Report of 
Independent Accountants
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1988-1998 In Review
and Selected Financial Data

Annual Growth Rate
1-yr 5-yr 10-yr

1997- 1993- 1988- (Dollars in thousands, Pro Forma
1998 1998 1998 except per share amounts) 1998 1997 1996* 1995** 1995

% % % Income Statement Data:
3.1 6.7 7.0 Net sales $1,347,241 1,306,789 1,275,716 1,248,812 1,243,818

(29.8) 2.7 2.8 Operating earnings $61,212 87,252 80,754 65,709 69,765
Earnings from 

(60.3) (5.9) (2.7) continuing operations $15,990 40,308 45,430 28,195 31,195
Percent of net sales 1.2 3.1 3.6 2.3 2.5

(56.7) 9.9 (2.7) Net earnings $15,990 36,940 45,430 25,663 28,663
Percent of net sales 1.2 2.8 3.6 2.1 2.3

4.7 11.2 11.3 Depreciation $42,317 40,412 40,878 35,134
36.1 20.9 12.3 Interest expense $26,989 19,836 18,881 18,132
(29.4) (0.4) 2.7 Income taxes $18,826 26,651 31,233 18,094 19,148

Balance Sheet Data:
14.0 13.1 9.2 Total assets $1,046,169 917,646 869,275 828,929
0.7 7.6 5.2 Working capital $172,740 171,607 141,617 142,056

Current ratio 1.6 1.7 1.6 1.6
Net property,

4.0 12.3 9.9 plant and equipment $414,467 398,561 391,201 355,123
Long-term debt, excluding 

30.5 37.9 11.8 current installments $300,074 229,996 172,779 166,459
0.7 6.5 6.7 Stockholders’ equity $341,404 339,114 334,740 299,532 299,414

Stockholder Data:
Earnings from continuing 

operations per common share:
(60.1) (5.8) (2.4) Basic $1.16 2.91 3.26 2.03 2.24
(60.1) (5.8) (2.4) Diluted $1.15 2.88 3.24 2.02 2.23

Net earnings per common share:
(56.6) 10.0 (2.4) Basic $1.16 2.67 3.26 1.85 2.06
(56.6) 10.1 (2.4) Diluted $1.15 2.64 3.24 1.84 2.05

Dividends paid:
9.0 7.8 8.4 Per common share $0.785 0.72 0.655 0.625

Stockholders’ equity:
(0.4) 6.4 6.9 Per common share $24.39 24.48 23.78 21.36 21.35

Return on average 
stockholders’ equity 4.7 12.0 14.3 9.8 10.0

Common stock price:
7.6 8.7 9.6 High $64.81 60.25 47.75 39.75

(23.6) 1.7 7.8 Low $34.00 44.50 29.50 27.75
Weighted average common shares 

outstanding (in thousands):
(0.9) (0.2) (0.3) Basic 13,721 13,843 13,910 13,884
(1.0) (0.2) (0.4) Diluted 13,844 13,988 14,008 13,977

– – 1.4 Number of employees 6,000 6,000 5,900 6,400

* All years after 1995 are 52-week years. All other years are twelve-months ended November 30.

**   See Consolidated Financial Statements Note 1, Change in Year-end.

H.B. Fuller Company and Subsidiaries
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1994 1993 1992 1991 1990 1989 1988

1,097,367 975,287 942,438 861,024 792,230 753,374 685,034
65,953 53,470 71,406 59,846 51,911 46,009 46,430

30,863 21,701 35,622 27,687 21,145 15,671 21,081
2.8 2.2 3.8 3.2 2.7 2.1 3.1

30,863 9,984 35,622 27,687 21,145 15,671 21,081
2.8 1.0 3.8 3.2 2.7 2.1 3.1

28,177 24,934 24,865 21,787 20,376 16,571 14,469
11,747 10,459 12,537 14,788 14,028 13,237 8,477
19,782 19,191 24,716 19,173 15,234 13,936 14,361

742,617 564,521 561,204 508,911 489,634 455,172 434,293
129,665 119,905 130,817 108,779 96,097 95,645 104,071

1.6 1.7 1.8 1.7 1.7 1.8 1.9

295,090 232,547 223,153 207,378 202,341 186,631 161,605

130,009 60,261 53,457 71,814 88,240 100,974 98,473
274,805 249,396 255,040 219,050 197,191 186,515 178,871

2.22 1.56 2.58 2.03 1.55 1.10 1.48
2.21 1.55 2.55 2.00 1.53 1.09 1.46

2.22 0.72 2.58 2.03 1.55 1.10 1.48
2.21 0.71 2.55 2.00 1.53 1.09 1.46

0.575 0.54 0.46 0.41 0.40 0.38 0.35

19.70 17.92 18.43 15.96 14.56 13.27 12.56

11.5 4.0 15.0 13.3 11.0 8.6 12.4

42.25 42.75 53.25 38.33 19.17 22.83 25.83
29.00 31.25 32.58 18.83 13.75 13.83 16.00

13,877 13,872 13,778 13,613 13,650 14,216 14,207
13,988 14,006 13,989 13,854 13,811 14,358 14,386
6,400 6,000 5,800 5,600 5,600 5,500 5,200
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Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of shareholders will be held on Thursday,
April 15, 1999, at 3 p.m. at the RiverCentre, 175 West Kellogg
Boulevard, St. Paul, Minnesota. All shareholders are cordially
invited to attend.

Form 10-K
H.B. Fuller Company’s Form 10-K annual report for the year
ended November 28, 1998, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, Washington, D.C., is available upon
request at no charge. Exhibits to the Form 10-K are available at
a charge sufficient to cover postage and handling. This material
may be obtained by writing to: Corporate Secretary, H.B. Fuller
Company, P.O. Box 64683, St. Paul, MN 55164-0683.

Independent Accountants
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Minneapolis, Minnesota.

Investor Contact 
Richard Edwards
Director of Investor Relations

To receive shareholder material through the mail, or if you’d like
to be added to our mailing list, call our Shareholder Services Line
at 1-800-214-2523. 

Number of Common Shareholders
As of November 28, 1998, there were approximately 4,522
common shareholders of record.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Norwest Bank Minnesota, N.A., P.O. Box 64856, St. Paul, MN
55164-0856, 1-800-468-9716 or 651-450-4064 (in Minnesota).

Web Site
http://www.hbfuller.com18%
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